The Emission Trading System: Transfer of the EU ETS to Canada.

Alisha Izabakarova

Student Number: 572477

Erasmus University Rotterdam
Erasmus School of Social and Behavioural Science

Degree: International Public Management and Policy

1st Reader: Prof. Dr.Markus Haverland

2nd Reader: Prof. Dr. Darren McCauley

Date of Submission: 30.06.2022

Master Thesis

Word Count: 19993

Summary

This study aimed to investigate which of the theories, logic of appropriateness or logic of consequence, provide greater explanatory leverage for a policy transfer based on the case of the ETS transfer from the EU to Canada. The congruence analysis was utilized in order to reveal which of the theories provide a better explanation. The logic of appropriateness was operationalized through the party political ideology while the logic of consequence was analyzed through the interest group preferences.

The investigation revealed that neither of the theories provides a comprehensive explanation for the policy transfer. First, although the analysis of political parties in Canada illustrates that the transfer did not occur, it was revealed that the ideologies in receiving countries play a role in policy adoption. More precisely, the left-wing ideologies are more receptive to new environmental policies. The examination of the interest group's preferences also confirmed that the policy transfer did not occur. At the same time, the results showed that the more likely the new environmental policies appeal to the interest groups, the more likely that the policy will be adopted.

Acknowledgement

This endeavor would not have been possible without support and encouragement of several people. Firstly, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Prof. Dr. Markus Haverland for his consistent guidance and support at every stage of this research project. I also had a pleasure working with the fellow students who provided valuable feedback to this thesis. Most importantly, I am extremely grateful to my beloved family for their unceasing support and belief in me. Lastly, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Darren McCauley for taking time to read my thesis.

Table of Contents

Summary	1
Acknowledgement	2
List of Abbreviations	5
List of Tables	6
1. Introduction	7
1.1 Problem Statement and Research Question	7
1.2 Relevance	8
1.2.1 Social Relevance	9
1.2.2 Theoretical Relevance	9
1.3 Background	10
2. Literature Review	12
2.1 Policy Transfer	12
2.2 Climate Change and Policy Transfer	14
3. Theoretical Framework	16
3.1 Logic of Appropriateness	16
3.1.1 Ideology	17
3.1.2 Political Ideologies and Policy Transfer	17
3.2 Logic of Consequences	19
3.2.1 Definition of interest groups	19
3.2.2 Interest Group Classification	20
3.2.3 Interest Group Preferences	21
4. Research Design and Methods	23
4.1 Selection of Research Design: Congruence Analysis	23
4.2 Structure of Congruence Analysis	24
4.3 Theory and Case Selection	25
4.4 Research Methods	26
4.4.1 Desk Research	26
4.4.2 Validity and Reliability	26
5. Analysis: Case of ETS Transfer from the EU to Canada	28
5.1 ETS Design	28
5.1.1 ETS in the EU	28
5.1.2 ETS in Canada	32
5.1.3 Discussion of Findings	36
5.2 Political Parties and ETS	38

5.2.1 Political Parties and Ideology	38
5.2.2 Party Position on OBPS in Canada	40
5.2.3 EU Institutions and ETS	45
5.2.3.1 EU Institutions	45
5.2.3.2 EU Institutions and their positions on ETS	46
5.2.4 Discussion of Findings	47
5.3 Interest Groups and ETS	51
5.3.1 Interest Groups in Canada	51
5.3.2 Interest Groups' Position on OBPS in Canada	52
5.3.3 Discussion of Findings	57
5. Conclusion	59
References	61

List of Abbreviations

BCA - Border Carbon Adjustment

BP - British Petroleum

CAN - Climate Action Network

CAPP - Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers

CBAM - Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism

ECR - European Conservatives and Reformists Party

ELDR - European Liberal Democrat and Reform Party

EPP - European People's Party

ETS - Emission Trading System

EU - European Union

GGPPA - Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing Act

GHG - Greenhouse gas

Green/EFA - Green/European Free Alliance

NDP - New Democratic Party

NGO - Non-governmental organization

OBPS - Output-based Pricing System

PES - Party of European Democrats

U.S.A - United States of America

U.K - United Kingdom

List of Tables

Table 1	Overview of the ETS Design Elements in the EU and Canada	p.37
Table 2	Political Parties in Canada and their Positions on OBPS Design Elements	p.49

1. Introduction

Climate change is one of the biggest challenges for societies, businesses and governments that influence each aspect of people's lives. The consequences of climate change are "not only physical but also economic and social" (Mason, 2015). Food insecurity, poverty and unemployment are among the numerous examples of the problems caused by the environmental problems (Safonov, 2019). Even minor changes in climate can lead to unbearable consequences for the present and future generations. Human activity, in its turn, is the main cause of climate change, and, at the same time, people are the solution to this challenge (OECD, 2022). However, due to the unprecedented scale of the problem, measures need to be taken not only at individual but also at business and government levels. In 2015, only 100 companies worldwide were accountable for 71% of the greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions which are the main source of climate change (Riley, 2017). In order to cope with the increasing emission at industrial level, governments throughout the globe introduce various measures ranging from regulations to technologies (IPCC, 2022). Emission Trading Systems (ETS) is one of the instruments in the government toolkit that "internalizes the societal cost of GHG emissions", thereby encouraging firms and companies to become sustainable (IETA, 2021). The ETS was first introduced in the European Union (EU) in 2005 (European Commission, 2020). In 2022, 46 jurisdictions already have a carbon pricing system at national level which indicates slow but steady diffusion of the ETS across countries (World Bank, 2022).

1.1 Problem Statement and Research Question

Climate change policies transfer in general and transfer of ETS specifically received considerable attention from scholars in recent years. The majority of the studies investigated the external factors that facilitate or hinder the policy transfer processes. At the same time, the internal factors were largely ignored. Although some studies acknowledge that internal factors such as the financial resources and networks have an effect on policy learning, these studies are not based on the investigation of policy transfer between specific countries and therefore provide an overview of general patterns of policy transfer across many countries (Schoenefeld et al., 2022). Consequently, there is a lack of research examining internal factors that influence the transfer of policies based on the specific cases. The literature gap underpins the choice of the

theories for the study. This research will be based on the theories developed by March and Olsen, namely the logic of consequences, which stresses the importance of rationality and the logic of appropriateness which upholds the role of identities and values (March & Olsen, 1998). The theories, which were mainly used to interpret the state behavior in the international arena, were recently applied to study of factors influencing the policy transfer in the climate field by Torney. Similar to other studies, Torney examined the transfer of various climate policies across many countries rather than the transfer between two jurisdictions (Torney, 2018). Thus, lack of the research investigating internal factors and relative freshness of given theories in the policy transfer field presents an interesting case. Combining the literature gap and new application of existing theories, this study will aim to test which of these two logics provide a better explanation of policy transfer based on the case of ETS.

Although many studies regarding the transfer of environmental policies focus on developing countries, the focus of this study is developed countries since these countries are on the list of top emitters. The policy transfer will be examined based on the transfer of the ETS from the EU, ETS pioneer, to Canada, which recently introduced ETS at the federal level. Therefore, this study will aim to answer the following *research question*:

"Which theory - logic of appropriateness or logic of consequence - provides the better explanation for the transfer of the Emission Trading System from the EU to Canada?"

1.2 Relevance

The research questions have two dimensions of relevance: theoretical and social. While theoretical relevance relates to the contributions to scientific discourse by enhancing understanding of particular phenomena, social relevance is related to the contributions to the wider society (Lehnert et al., 2007).

1.2.1 Social Relevance

According to the definition provided by Lehnert and associates, socially relevant research "furthers the understanding of social or political phenomena that affects many people's lives" (Lehnert et al., 2007, p.27).

As already mentioned, climate change is one of the biggest challenges for both present and future generations that touches every corner of the world. At the same time, developed countries lead climate change mitigation and adaptation through their innovative approaches to climate change (Glachant, 2020). The more effective these innovations are across the developed states the more likely that other countries will seek to adopt similar approaches to the climate change problems. Thorough examination of the climate change responses in developed countries will assist both developed and developing countries, which are lacking technical, administrative, and financial capabilities to tackle the problem effectively and efficiently. Therefore, the findings of this research can shed light on the factors that facilitate the policy transfer thereby assisting policymakers around the world. Moreover, an increasing number of jurisdictions with ETS indicate that more and more countries are expected to learn from each other in the future which once more points to the necessity to test the role of internal factors in policy transfer. More precisely, the investigation of internal factors that explain the policy transfer across developed countries can serve as an indication of whether the policy adoption will occur in other countries.

1.2.2 Theoretical Relevance

The theoretical relevance is defined as contributions that enhance "analytical leverage of political or social phenomena" (Lehnert et al., 2007,p.23). This study is considered theoretically relevant for two reasons.

First, the study applied "the theoretical framework to a relatively new empirical domain" (Lehnert et al., 2007, p.25). The most common theories applied to the study of policy transfer are the learning, coercion and economic competition theories. For example, Boyd used competition and learning theories in order to examine which factors led to the adoption of climate change policies from the U.S to Canada (Boyd, 2017). As mentioned previously, the theories selected for this research, the logic of consequence and the logic of appropriateness, are relatively new in the policy transfer field. Besides Torney's research, the literature applying the given theoretical framework to study policy transfer or policy learning is lacking. Therefore, this study will aim to

reveal whether two mentioned logics can provide a valid explanation for environmental policy transfer.

As a consequence of applying the theoretical framework to a relatively unstudied field, the research is theoretically relevant as it will test "so far untested theoretical hypotheses" (Lehnert et al., 2007,p.24). According to Lehnert and associates, the examination of untested hypotheses contributes to scientific discourse regardless of whether the hypotheses are confirmed or rejected (Lehnert et al., 2007,p.24). Acceptance of hypotheses lead to the theoretical refinement while the their rejection "allows us to reject empirically not confirmed hypotheses" (Lehnert et al., 2007,p.24).

1.3 Background

The ETS is a widely-recognized tool for fighting climate change. The system aims at reducing GHG emissions in a cost-effective way by creating markets in which firms that find it expensive to abate can purchase emission allowances from other firms that can minimize their emissions at a lower cost (OECD, 2022). In other words, if one company emits above the amount set by the framework, it can buy emission allowances from another company which emits below the allowed maximum. The ETS functions either through the cap-and-trade or baseline-and-credit principles (OECD, 2022). Under the cap-and-trade principle, the absolute emission limit is determined, and the emission permits are distributed based on the aggregate emission level (OECD, 2022). Under the baseline-and-credit system, on the other hand, emission levels are determined for each activity based on the "historical emissions or from a performance standard that specifies the permitted ratio of emissions to output" (Buckley et al., 2004, p.2).

The ETS was introduced in the EU in 2005 (European Commission, 2020). Alongside being the first system, the EU emission trading regime is also the largest in the world arena, covering more than 11,000 companies (European Commission, 2016). Echoing the example of the EU, many other countries have already adopted or are considering the introduction of the ETS. For example, Canada, China, Japan, New Zealand, South Korea, and Switzerland have already established the system at national or subnational levels (European Commission, 2022).

One of the first countries to adopt the ETS at provincial level was Canada. In 2007, the Federal Government released the "Turning the Corner" action plan that set mandatory targets for GHG emissions reduction (IEA, 2017). The action plan set a basis for further government programs

and regulations to combat climate change (Government of Canada, 2013). As a part of this action plan, the government also introduced the Regulatory Framework for Air Emissions where the emission trading mechanism was first mentioned (Government of Canada, 2007). Consequently, the general framework gave a start to ETS introduction at provincial levels. In 2007, Alberta passed the Technology Innovation and Emissions Reduction regulation establishing baseline-and-credit ETS (World Bank, 2022). Following Alberta, the province of Quebec implemented the trading system, in 2013. The only province where the ETS was introduced before 2007 is Ontario (Government of Ontario, 2022). However the coverage of its local ETS was limited to nitrogen oxide and sulphur dioxide only (Prairie Climate Center, 2018).

In 2016, after signing the Paris Agreement, the federal government released the Pan-Canadian Framework on Clean Growth and Climate Change (OECD, 2021). The given framework stressed the importance of cooperation between the federal and the provincial levels (Government of Canada, 2017). In order to advance the objectives of the Pan-Canadian Framework, the Greenhouse Gas Polluting Pricing Act (GGPPA), or the backstop program, was passed in 2018 (Government of Canada, 2018). For the first time, the regulatory act established a federal carbon charge and the emission trading system, the Output-Based Pricing System (OBPS) (Government of Canada, 2018). OBPS functions as a regular emission trading system, where the firms that emit below the baseline receive the "surplus credits", which can be traded in the emission market. The backstop program provided flexibility to provinces by allowing them to set their own ETS (Government of Canada, 2021). However, if the ETS is absent or does not meet the federal requirements, the OBPS is applied to those territories. After the regulatory changes, more and more provinces started to implement the ETS to reduce their GHG emissions. Some provinces, such as Manitoba and Nova Scotia opted for the provincial ETS while other provinces, such as New Brunswick applied federal backstop (World Bank, 2018).

2. Literature Review

2.1 Policy Transfer

Many public policies have spread across the globe influencing the lives of billions of people. These policies include and are not limited to education standards, free-market policies and environmental regulations. Policy learning, policy transfer and policy diffusion are the common terms that describe the spread of public policies. Many academics point to the advantages and less often to disadvantages brought by the policy learning processes to developing and developed countries (Garret et al., 2006). Although the perceived benefits and costs of policy learning are crucial for understanding the countries' motivation to engage in the policy diffusion or transfer, it is also important to analyze other factors that lead to the policy learning.

Before examining the scientific discourse in the given field, it is necessary to define the central concepts. Policy transfer can be described as a process in which "knowledge about policies, administrative arrangements, institutions and ideas in one political setting (past or present) is used in development of policies, administrative arrangements, institutions and ideas in another political setting" (Dolowitz & Marsh, 2000, p. 5). The policy diffusion concept emphasizes the dependence of the government decisions or choices in one country on the government decisions and choices in other countries (Garret et al., 2006). Policy learning in its turn can be understood in terms of "lessons that are drawn" from the previous experience (Dunlop & Radaelli, 2013, p. 60). Moyson and associates (2017) provide the categorization of the approaches to policy learning. They argue that learning can occur on the micro, meso and macro levels. While the micro-level approach focuses on individual learning and the meso-level approach builds upon organizational learning, the macro-level approach refers to the learning across the systems, in other words across the governments. The learning processes at the latter level can also be termed policy diffusion or policy transfer, which implies that the concepts defined earlier can be used interchangeably (Moyson, et al, 2017).

In order to understand why governments engage in policy learning, the forms of policy transfer should be examined (Wasserfallen, 2019). One of the earliest studies conducted in this field differentiates among three types of policy transfers: voluntary transfer, direct coercive transfer, and indirect coercive transfer (Dolowitz & Marsh, 1996). It was revealed that voluntary policy

transfer can be observed in the cases of perceived policy failure (Dolowitz & Marsh, 1996, p.346). Authors also claim that the "uncertainty about the cause of problems, the effects of previous decisions or the future causes actors to search for policies they can borrow" (Dolowitz & Marsh, 2000, p.347). In fact, policy failure is not the only factor that induces governments to borrow the policies. Public dissatisfaction with existing policies, new policy agenda or new political strategy caused by the political changes within a country can also motivate governments to engage in voluntary policy transfers (Evans, 2009). Direct coercive transfers occur when one country forces other countries to adopt certain policies. The cases when international organizations or supra-national institutions rather than the countries force the implementation of the policies are more common. For example, the World Bank and the IMF condition their aid on the implementation of specific economic policies. Indirect coercive transfer emphasizes the idea of interdependence. Economic, political, and technological interdependence pushes the countries which are lagging behind to adopt similar policies. Unlike voluntary transfers, the second and third types of transfer processes are more common for developing countries (Evans, 2009).

Another study in the field of policy learning focuses on theories to explain the reasons behind the policy transfers. Simmons and associates (2007) identified four theories that explain the diffusion of policies across countries. First, the constructivism theory emphasizes the power of norms and ideas in policy diffusion. The authors bring examples from the education and human rights field. They illustrate that these policies were adopted by the majority of developing countries not when they were politically and economically ready for the changes but rather when education and human rights became global norms. In contrast to constructivism, learning theory implies that the countries will borrow policies out of rational convictions. If governments believe that the policies in other countries produced positive results, they will be more likely to transfer these policies (Elkins & Simmons, 2005). Coercion theory, in its turn, builds upon the classification provided by Dolowitz and Marsh described above. Lastly, the economic competition theory elaborates on the idea that competition for scarce financial resources forces countries to adopt policies that they would not consider otherwise.

Alongside the general classification and theoretical explanations, many authors focus on specific factors that account for the policy change as a result of the policy transfer. For example, Wasserfallen and Geraldi (2019) analyzed the political influence over policy learning. It was identified that lesson-drawing is a highly politicized process, where governments tend to focus

on the experience of the governments dominated by parties with similar ideologies and ignore the results of the policies adopted by opposing parties (Wasserfallen & Geraldi,2019). Sugiyama, in addition to ideological influence, also examined the role of political self-interest and socialized norms in the policy diffusion based on the social sector reforms in Brazil (Sugiyama, 2008). It was revealed that the political ideology and social networks had a significant influence on the policy diffusion while the political incentives could not provide an explanation for the diffusion. The article also emphasized the importance of analyzing the role of both internal and external factors in policy transfer.

2.2 Climate Change and Policy Transfer

Regarding the climate change policies specifically, some scholars focused on the general diffusion of climate policies across countries. Schoenefeld and associates (2022) investigated the drivers and barriers, motivations, mechanisms, outputs and outcomes of policy diffusion. The study provided an overview of the factors that have an impact on policy diffusion rather than the thorough examination of each factor. It was revealed that there are four main factors that facilitate the policy transfer: interests, rights and duties, ideologies and recognition. Besides the investigation of these four factors, the research also outlines some other factors that influence the policy transfer. For example, lobbying by environmental interest groups affects policy transfer since successful lobbying by those groups can induce governments to adopt climate-friendly policies (Schoenefeld et al., 2022, p.3). In conclusion, authors reveal that the majority of factors are understudied thereby emphasizing the need to investigate them. Concerning more precise recommendations, authors urge researchers to focus on the role of ideologies in the policy transfer.

Other scholars focused specifically on the transfer of the EU climate policies to the rest of the world. For example, Torney, studied the factors that explain the followership in the climate change governance on the EU example (Torney, 2018). Rather than studying the internal factors that facilitate the policy transfer, the author focused on more general factors explaining the policy adoption in the international context. The research analyzed a wide range of policies including the transfer of the ETS from the EU to China. Analysis of factors that facilitates the policy transfer was conducted through the explanatory framework developed by March and

Olsen whereby the logic of consequence and logic of appropriateness were used to explain the policy transfer. In fact, the theory was previously utilized for interpretation of state behavior in the international arena rather than the policy transfer. Thus, Torney can be considered as a pioneer who applied this framework for the analysis of the policy transfer from the EU to other countries. According to March and Olsen's theory, the logic of consequences sees "political order as arising from negotiation among rational actors pursuing personal preferences or interests in circumstances in which there may be gains to coordinated action" whereas under the logic of appropriateness "the pursuit of purpose is associated with identities more than with interests" (March & Olsen, 1998, p.949,951). Torney's analysis revealed that both logics have significant impact on policy transfer. However, as mentioned previously, the study involved investigation of many different policies and their transfer to various countries. Thus, the studies examining the application of theory developed by March and Olsen on transfer of specific policies between two jurisdictions are lacking.

Regarding environmental policies in Canada, some studies focused on the policy transfer from the U.S rather than the EU. For instance, Boyd studied the transfer of carbon pricing from the U.S to Canadian provinces (Boyd, 2017). He agrees that learning theory and competition are valid explanations for a policy transfer but he emphasizes that to "develop a full explanation of policy adoption, domestic circumstances must be examined" (Boyd, 2017, p.551). His analysis was based on the three "I" framework which incorporates the following local elements that are necessary for the analysis of policy transfer: ideas, interests and institutions.. The author outlines that ideas correspond to the values, beliefs and policy framing (Boyd, 2017,552). However, interests are interpreted only through political and economic perspective. In contrast to Boyd, Torney specifies that alongside political and economic interests interest group preferences also play a role in policy transfer (Torney, 2018). In conclusion, Boyd's study revealed that values or ideas play a greater role in policy transfer.

Overall, the literature examined in this section indicates that there is a lack of studies analyzing the internal factors in the transfer of environmental policies. Although some scholars research the internal factors, they do not base their analysis on specific cases. Lastly, the literature applying the two logics theories to the policy transfer field is relatively recent and therefore requires further investigation.

3. Theoretical Framework

In order to limit and select the most decisive internal factors, we refer to the theory developed by March and Olsen. Scholars argue that government actions are motivated by two logics, the logic of expected consequences, and the logic of appropriateness (March & Olsen, 1998). Although many external factors have been a focus of the scholarly investigation, the internal factors were not thoroughly examined. Thus, the choice of the theoretical framework is justified by the studies of Torney and Boyd. While Torney proved the two logics to be valid explanations for policy transfer based on the analysis of external factors, Boyd revealed that interests, which correspond to the logic of consequences and ideas, corresponding to the logic of appropriateness are among the most important factors facilitating the policy transfer (Boyd, 2017; Torney, 2018).

3.1 Logic of Appropriateness

The logic of appropriateness emphasizes the role of shared beliefs that influence policy adoption. Under this logic, governments "act in accordance with rules and practices that are socially constructed, publicly known, anticipated, and accepted" (March & Olsen, 1998, p.952). Thus, countries adopt those policies that assist them in "the realization of their internalized values and identities" (Schoenefeld et al., 2022, p.6). Values and identities in one country are largely shaped by its relationship with the outside world. According to this framework, governments that share similar ideological convictions are more likely to learn from each other's experiences (Schoenefeld et al., 2022, p.6). The assumption is based on the fact that governments dominated by similar ideologies share similar values and beliefs. Consequently, the policy transfer process is less likely to be hindered by the political leadership in the receiving countries. In order to reveal whether the transfer of the policies depends on ideologies, it is necessary to examine the ideologies of the sender and receiver countries. In the subsequent sections, first, the ideologies will be explained and further, the relationship between the types of ideologies and policy transfer will be defined.

3.1.1 Ideology

People tend to see the world through the 'lens' of their deeply embedded values and beliefs (Heywood, 2017, p.40). The system of ideas, beliefs, values and opinions that provides a perspective on the social and political world can be grouped under a single title - ideology (Gerring, 1997, p.). According to Heywood (2017), ideology is a "more or less coherent set of ideas that provides the basis for organized political action whether this is intended to preserve, modify or overthrow the existing system of power" (p.10). Ideologies can be said to navigate people within the existing social environment (Heywood, 2017, p.11). The coherent set of ideas and beliefs provide society with the benchmarks that assist people in assessing reality and comparing it against their vision of what is appropriate and desirable. If the present social settings do not correspond to the societies' definition of adequacy, ideologies push the public toward desired alternatives, thereby facilitating political change. In other words, ideologies:

- "(a) offer an account of the existing order, usually in the form of a "world-view";
 - (b) advance a model of the desired future, a vision of the "good society";
- (c) explain how political change can and should be brought about how to get from (a) to (b)" (Heywood, 2017, p.10)

3.1.2 Political Ideologies and Policy Transfer

Regarding the type of ideologies, liberalism, conservatism, socialism, anarchism, communism, feminism and green ideology are among the most common examples of political ideologies (Heywood, 2017). Despite the numerous types, ideologies are "internally complex, intermixed and overlapping" (Alexander, 2015, p.981). Heywood (2017) classifies ideologies into "thick' and thin" ideologies (p.67). Liberalism, socialism and conservatism are considered "tick" ideologies since they are grounded on an extensive set of values, beliefs and ideas. Feminism or green ideologies, on the other hand, belong to the "thin" category, due to the fact that they often incorporate the features of the "thick" ideological traditions. For example, green ideology is mainly grounded in liberal elements.

Liberalism, as a "thick" ideology, upholds the primacy of individuals who are rational actors, minimal state intervention, rule of law, liberty and freedom (Heywood, 2017). According to the

ideology, the state should not intervene in the life of individuals except for cases when state interference is required for the sake of public order and the protection of individual rights.

In contrast to liberalism, conservatism is based on the ideas of tradition, authority, hierarchy and society as a whole rather than individuals (Heywood, 2017). Due to reliance on traditions, conservatism is critical of the changes that are believed to disrupt the existing social order. Thus, representatives of the given ideology are more likely to support the status quo.

Socialism, another thick ideology, revolves around the ideas of community, cooperation, and equality (Heywood, 2017, p.284). Under the given ideology, societies are based on the principle of equality. Equality, in its turn, can only be ensured by the state. Thus, socialists view the state as an instrument that distributes wealth and maintains a planned economic system (Heywood, 2017, p.307).

As ideologies play a guiding role for wider society, it is also a useful instrument for governments, more precisely for political parties representing the governments, which use ideologies to locate themselves in the political realm (Budge, 1994). In other words, political parties are guided by ideological goals which means that government priorities are largely shaped by the beliefs and values of political parties, especially the dominating parties. In order to simplify the linkage between the political parties and their preferences in policy transfer, the discussed political ideologies and the parties representing them can be divided into two groups: left-wing parties, upholding the liberal views and "welcoming changes", and right-wing parties, which are resistant to changes and are more aligned with conservative thinking (Heywood, 2017, p.71). Consequently, while socialist and liberal parties belong to left-wing parties, the conservative parties are located on the right-wing of the political spectrum.

It is generally considered that the division of political parties along the ideological line has a significant impact on policy adoption and reforms (Maggetti & Trein, 2021, p.82). First, political parties have different predispositions towards policy transfer in general. For example, unlike the left parties, the right-wing parties are less likely to introduce ambitious policy changes which indicates that right-wing parties are more likely to adopt only particular aspects of policies (Maggetti & Trein, 2021, p.83). Regardless of the general preferences toward the policy change, different political parties have different positions on the adoption of specific policies. Concerning the parties' positions on the adoption of the climate change policies, center-left parties, namely the liberal and green parties, are more likely to support the adoption of new environmental

regulations (Maggetti & Trein, 2021, p.82). In contrast to the left-wing parties, conservative parties are less pro-environmental. As they are the main supporters of the business interests, they advocate weakening green regulations (Chang et al., 2015, p.1182). From this flows that the left-wing parties favor the transfer of policies which are environment-friendly while the right-wing parties support the transfer of policies concerning the business interest.

The first hypothesis can be derived from the given theoretical framework: According to the logic of appropriateness, the transfer of ETS depends on the ideologies in the receiving country. The more similar the ideologies the more likely Canada is to adopt the ETS from the EU.

3.2 Logic of Consequences

According to the logic of consequences, governments evaluate the expected outcomes or consequences of a particular policy before adopting it (March & Olsen, 1998, p.949). The country will act in favor of policy if it is on the list of government priorities. Government priorities, in their turn, are determined by the domestically derived interests which are largely shaped by the preferences of interest groups (Schoenefeld et al., 2022). Consequently, the central element of the logic of consequence are the interest group preferences. An important aspect of the logic of consequence is the fact that the government is less likely to introduce policy changes if existing policies satisfy domestic interests (Dolowitz & Marsh, 1996, p.347). In other words, the government will adopt new policies only in the case when current policies are not in line with the preferences of the interest groups. Therefore, to understand what facilitates the transfer of the policy across countries, it is necessary to examine the domestic interest groups' preferences.

3.2.1 Definition of interest groups

Conceptual clarity is a prerequisite for successful empirical investigation (Schoenefeld, 2021, p. 586). First, it is important to define what the interest groups are. According to some scholars, "interest group" is a broad term that embraces a wide range of groups and organizations such as trade unions, churches and corporations (Jordan et al., 2004, p.201). Other scholars prefer a more precise definition. Jordan and associates (2004) define an interest group as an entity that aims to influence policy processes and outcomes. Additionally, the authors emphasize the

difference between interest groups and policy participants, which are both parts of the broader concept of the pressure group. Policy participants, or stakeholders, are the individual corporations or organizations that strive to affect the policy process (Jordan et al., 2004, p.205). Business corporations such as British Petroleum (BP), or universities can be considered as examples of policy participants. Although they share the functional aspect with the interest groups by attempting to shape the policy outcomes, individual companies or organizations intervene in the policy processes on their own behalf and when issues on the government agenda have a direct impact on them (Schoenefeld, 2021). Interest groups on the other hand are "the *groups* of individuals and companies that seek to influence the policy outcomes" (Schoenefeld, 2021, p.588). Although Jordan and associates agree on the given definition they also acknowledge that there is an exception to the general definition whereby "policy-centered organizations" such as think-tanks should also fall in the category of interest groups (Jordan et al., 2004, p.206). Their inclusion in the interest group category is underpinned by the fact that they do not intervene in policy processes only when these policies have a direct impact on them.

3.2.2 Interest Group Classification

Classification of interest groups is crucial for understanding the interest groups' preferences. Public and private interest groups are two broad categories of interest groups (Klüver & Saurugger, 2013). Private interest groups represent the interests of specific segments of society and thus, are also referred to as *sectional groups* by some scholars (Klüver & Saurugger, 2013, p.188). One of the defining features of private interest groups is a clearly defined and narrow constituency which implies that the cost and benefits of a specific policy are distributed among the members of that interest group (Klüver & Saurugger, 2013). An example of an interest group that serves private interests would be the farmers' or business interest groups.

Public interest groups, or *cause groups*, represent the diffuse interests of the general public (Klüver & Saurugger, 2013). Due to the fact that they promote general interests, the cost and benefits of the policies are distributed among all members of society. In other words, the policy outcomes have an impact not only on the members of the interest groups but also on the wider society (Klüver & Saurugger, 2013, p.189). Interest groups representing general public concerns

such as environment, education or human rights are considered examples of public interest groups.

3.2.3 Interest Group Preferences

Interest group preferences have a significant impact on policy outcomes. While many studies focus on the interest group influence, the determinants of the interest group preferences are largely underexamined. Dür agrees that it is challenging to define the interest group preferences and many scholars take them for granted (Dür, 2008, p.567). In fact, in some cases, interest groups have clear-cut inclinations which are easy to determine. For example, export-oriented manufacturers are more likely to support trade liberalization, while import-oriented businesses are more likely to advocate protectionist policies (Dür, 2008, p.568). The division between environment and business groups' preferences can be done on a similar basis. If environment groups prefer tighter environmental regulations, business groups, on the other hand, are against stricter regulations due to increased financial obligations. However, policies are usually highly complex and interest groups' positions towards particular policies are not always straightforward.

According to Tsebelis (2005), rational actors' preferences are also influenced by the cost and benefits, or the implications, of the policy changes. It implies that interest group preferences are influenced not only by mere policy inclinations but also by strategic considerations. Skodvin and associates (2010) provide a similar explanation for the interest group preferences based on the example of climate change policy adoption. Scholars argue that industry groups may have contrasting preferences toward the same policy due to their strategic calculations. For instance, in the ETS case, more energy-intensive industries are considered to be against the ETS due to dual costs - direct cost from ETS and increased cost of electricity as a result of emission trading. In addition, the authors specify that environment groups are more likely to have permanent positions while business groups are more likely to change their positions depending on the issues at stake (Skodvin et al., 2010,p.860). Concentrated costs and diffuse benefits of the environmental policies are considered one of the main reasons for a divergent positioning of interest groups.

Overall, the strategic inclinations of interest groups imply that environment groups are necessarily in favor of all environment regulations, and business groups are not necessarily against all green policies.

Based on the given theoretical framework, the *second hypothesis* can be formulated as follows: *According to the logic of consequence, the transfer of ETS depends on the Canadian domestic interests. The more likely the EU ETS to appeal to interest groups preferences, the more likely Canada is to adopt the ETS from the EU.*

4. Research Design and Methods

4.1 Selection of Research Design: Congruence Analysis

Haverland and Blatter (2012) emphasize three types of explanatory small-N research designs: co-variational analysis (COV), causal process-tracing (CPT) and congruence analysis (CON).

COV is concerned with studying the effects of the independent variable on the dependent variable of interest, in other words, the goal of the co-variational research design is to assess whether "the certain factor makes a difference" (Haverland & Blatter, 2012, p.33).

Unlike COV, causal process-tracing design is based on the assumption that a particular outcome is the result of the interplay of multiple factors (Haverland & Blatter, 2012, p.80). Instead of focusing on the investigation of the effect of one factor, studies with the given research design examine how different factors lead to a certain result, which means that CPT research questions are concerned not only with defining which factors contributed to the outcome but also how they shaped this outcome.

In contrast to COV and CPT, the congruence analysis aims to test the explanatory leverage of theories. CON is based on the assumption that theories are not only utilized in the academic discourse but are also means of interpreting reality (Haverland & Blatter, 2012). Thus, the approach examines whether theories can provide an account for the political and social phenomena (Haverland & Blatter, 2012, p.148). Although authors define congruence analysis as a "small-N research design in which the researcher uses case studies to provide empirical evidence for the explanatory relevance or relative strength of one theoretical approach in comparison to other theoretical approaches", the given research design is not always based on the competing theories (Haverland & Blatter, 2012, p.144). In fact, there are two subtypes of congruence analysis: 1) competing theory approach and 2) complementary theory approach (Haverland & Blatter, 2012, p.145). Under the former approach, the study aims to examine which of the theories provides a better explanation for the empirical observations. It is based on the assumption that different theories provide different explanations of the empirical realm. The latter approach, on the other hand, assumes that one theory can provide only a partial explanation of reality, which means that comprehensive explanations can only be provided through the combination of two or more theories.

Unlike the COV and CPT research designs, congruence analysis emphasizes the importance of theory selection over case selection (Haverland & Blatter, 2012). Although case selection is essential for the empirical analysis, the theory selection should precede the case selection in the congruence analysis due to the fact that this type of research design aims to enrich theoretical discourse in the first place.

Congruence analysis was selected for this study for several reasons. First, studies that apply the CON approach contribute to both theoretical debate and society by justifying the relevance of theories used in the research and "shedding light on important social or political events" (Haverland & Blatter, 2012, p.197). Second, congruence analysis enhances the internal validity of the study in cases when the propositions derived from theories accurately reflect the nature of those theories (Haverland & Blatter, 2012). The findings of the research conducted under the congruence analysis are hard to generalize. However, unlike the CPT, external generalization is possible since the empirical results can be used "for the debate on the relevance of theoretical approaches in the broader scientific discourse" (Haverland & Blatter, 2012, p.32)

4.2 Structure of Congruence Analysis

As the previous section elaborated on the available research designs including the congruence analysis, this section will discuss the structure of the congruence analysis.

The first step under the congruence analysis is theory and case selection (Haverland & Blatter, 2012) Two theories were chosen for this study: logic of consequence and logic of appropriateness. The given theories were selected to study the factors behind policy transfer based on the case of the ETS transfer from the EU to Canada. The selected theories correspond to the competitive-theory approach since the former theory emphasizes interest groups' preferences as an important factor influencing the policy transfer while the latter theory argues that the political ideology plays a greater role in the policy adoption.

After the specification of theories, the next crucial step in the congruence analysis is the formulation of propositions as they "guide the collection of empirical information" (Haverland & Blatter, 2012, p.179). The formulated propositions are based on the core assumptions of the logic of appropriateness and logic of consequence and aim to investigate which of the independent variables, namely the interest group preferences and political ideologies, better explain the policy transfer, the dependent variable of the study. The propositions encompass "specific empirical

expressions of abstract concepts" whereby the logic of consequence is analyzed through the interest group preferences and the logic of appropriateness through the political ideology (Haverland & Blatter, 2012, p.179).

After the specification of theories and formulation of propositions, the analysis and discussion section will shed light on the information related to each proposition. The first part will provide an overview of the design elements of the ETS in both the EU and Canada. The comparison of the two systems will reveal whether the transfer occurred in the first place. In order to test the first hypothesis, first, the next sections will analyze the political parties and their position on the emission trading scheme in Canada. Second, the ideological composition of the EU institutions by the time ETS was introduced will be investigated. Further, the second hypothesis will be examined through the analysis of the interest groups' preferences on the ETS in Canada. Lastly, comparison of the propositions against the empirical observations is expected to reveal if the policy transfer occurred and if yes, which of the theories has greater explanatory leverage.

4.3 Theory and Case Selection

As the main purpose of the congruence analysis is to contribute to scientific discourse, the theory selection is the most important element of this research (Haverland & Blatter, 2012). As mentioned previously, the competing theories selected for this study, logic of appropriateness and logic of consequence, were developed by March and Olsen who argued that these two logics provide the basis for the state behavior in the international arena (March & Olsen, 1998). Although the framework was used to interpret state behavior, Torney used a similar theoretical framework to study the "the leader-follower relationship" between the EU and other states (Torney, 2018). The given research will utilize the similar framework to examine which of the explanatory frameworks provide a better interpretation of the policy transfer. Thus, rather than testing the dominant theories in the field, the research focuses on theoretical innovations. More precisely, the study will aim to contribute to scientific discourse through investigation of less prominent theories in the policy transfer area.

The case selection was motivated by the fact that Canada introduced ETS recently. While there are many studies examining the transfer of ETS from the EU to China and Australia, for example, Canadian ETS remained largely unstudied. Considering that the majority of countries

that established ETS adopted it from the EU, the research will aim to test the hypothesis through the analysis of the ETS in Canada.

4.4 Research Methods

Qualitative research can be conducted via a variety of methods. Ethnography or participant observation, qualitative interviewing, focus groups, discourse and conversation analysis, and analysis of texts and documents, or desk research, are among the most common types associated with the qualitative studies (Bryman, 2012, p.383). This study will be conducted through desk research.

4.4.1 Desk Research

This research will be mainly based on the investigation of the laws, regulations, reports, press-releases, official statements and news articles. The reports related to Canada are accessible at the databases of the federal government's official website and the official websites of the relevant ministries. Documents related to the EU will be sourced from EUR-lex, an official website of EU law, and the official websites of the Council, the European Parliament and the Commission. Political parties and their positions will be examined based on their election platforms, parliamentary debates and federal media outlets. For the analysis of the interest groups and their preferences the official reports and news articles will be analyzed.

Although the author acknowledges that documentation similar to all other sources is subject to some weaknesses such as limited access and reporting bias, it is one of the widely used methods for case studies (Yin, 2009,p.86). Moreover, stability and broad coverage of the information flowing from documentation sources often act as countervailing power (Yin, 2009, p.86).

4.4.2 Validity and Reliability

The internal and external validity and reliability of the study will be discussed in this section. First, the study is considered internally valid if "there is a good match between researchers' observations and the theoretical ideas they develop" (Bryman, 2012,p.390) In congruence analysis, this match is achieved through two types of controls: horizontal and vertical controls (Haverland & Blatter, 2012). According to the vertical controls, the concrete predictions must be

derived from more or less abstract theories and further compared to the empirical findings (Haverland & Blatter, 2012, p.146). Horizontal controls, on the other hand, ensure that theories selected for the analysis have a solid ground to be selected among other theories in scientific discourse since they provide a valid explanation of causal relationships. Additionally, the selection of more than one theory strengthens the internal validity of the congruence analysis which is the case in this study (Haverland & Blatter, 2012).

Next, the external validity, or transferability, relates to the extent to which empirical results can be generalized (Bryman, 2012, p.390). In small-N research, the transferability is relatively constrained since these studies are conducted in order to reveal whether the selected factors play a role in specific contexts (Bryman, 2012). Therefore, the external validity of the given research is low. At the same time, diversity of sources used for the analysis enhances the external validity of this study.

Lastly, reliability refers to "the degree to which a study can be replicated" (Bryman, 2012, p.390). Considering that the analysis is mainly based on the investigation of official documents, laws, regulations and official statements, the results of the given study can be easily reproduced. Thus, the research has a high reliability.

5. Analysis: Case of ETS Transfer from the EU to Canada

In order to answer the research question "Which theory - logic of appropriateness or logic of consequence - provides the better explanation for the transfer of the Emission Trading System from the EU to Canada?", the empirical analysis will be divided into three parts. Firstly, the ETS design elements in the EU and Canada will be discussed. The comparison of the design elements will allow us to understand if the policy transfer occurred in the first place. Next, as the logic of appropriateness is operationalized through the party political ideologies, Canadian political parties and their preferences toward OBPS will be examined. The EU institutions and their positions on ETS will be also discussed in this section. The last section will focus on the interest groups and their positions on the OBPS to test the hypothesis related to the logic of consequences. The positions of political parties and interest groups on the OBPS will be analyzed through the lens of the design elements to reveal if the similar design elements were transferred from the EU. The referral to the EU in official documents or public statements will indicate that the policy was adopted from the EU.

5.1 ETS Design

This section will focus on the main design elements of the emission trading regimes in the EU and Canada. More precisely, the following ETS elements will be analyzed: timetable, sectoral coverage, methodology for distributing emission allowances, opt-outs, opt-ins and pooling mechanisms, procedures for monitoring and verification and compliance mechanisms (Pew Center on Global Climate Policy, 2005). In addition to the main design elements the price and systems linking the ETS to the imports will be reviewed.

5.1.1 ETS in the EU

The European Union's emission trading scheme is the first and the largest emission trading initiative in the world which aims to reduce GHG emissions in a "cost-effective and economically efficient manner" (European Commission, 2015, p.4). The system operates under the cap-and-trade principle according to which the total allowed amount of emissions is set.

Rather than establishing separate emission caps for each firm, the EU ETS establishes an EU-wide emission cap (European Commission, n.d). In line with the cap-and-trade principle, the allowances are distributed based on the overall level of the GHG that are allowed to be emitted. In general, the way allowances function can be illustrated by the following example: if one firm emits less than established maximum, it can sell the remaining amount of emissions in the form of allowances to other firms which emit more than they are allowed according to the ETS regulations. More detailed information about the allowances and how they are distributed will be provided further in this section.

First, the *timeline* for the emission trading scheme will be discussed. The ETS was introduced in in 2005 with its implementation divided into four phases: the first phase lasted from 2005 till 2007, the pilot period, the second phase from 2008 till 2012, the third phase covered the period from 2013 to 2020 and the last, the fourth phase, started in 2021 (European Commission, 2020). Each consequent phase differs from the previous period in the intensity and severity of regulations. For example, in the first phase, only carbon dioxide emissions were covered by the ETS (European Commission, 2020). The types of emissions governed by the emission trading scheme increased further over the course of the second and third phases. In addition to the type of the emissions, the way allowances were distributed also changed from 2005 (European Commission, 2020). If initially, allowances were distributed freely among the industry participants, already in the third period, auctioning became the main mechanism for allowance allocation. The changes in each phase demonstrate the incremental progress of the ETS.

Second important element of the emission trading scheme is the *sector coverage*. Initially, the EU ETS included energy-intensive industry, such as oil and gas industry, mineral industry, production and processing of ferrous materials, pulp, paper and board (The establishment of the scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowances trading, Directive 2003/87/EC). In 2012 the aviation sector also started to be regulated by the emission trading regime (European Commission, 2021). Moreover, during the third phase, "aluminum, carbon capture and storage, petrochemicals and other chemicals" became ETS-regulated sectors (European Commission, 2015, p.20). Based on the recent Commission's proposal the EU ETS is also expected to cover maritime transport, buildings and road transport (European Commission, 2021a).

Since emission allowances constitute the essence of the ETS, the *mechanisms for the distribution* of these allowances should not be overlooked. As mentioned previously, during the first and the

second phases a fixed amount of the emission allowances was distributed for free. However, starting from 2013, the third implementation period, the auctioning replaced free allocation with few exceptions. First, new installations can still receive the allowances free of charge and second, industry and heating sectors subject to carbon leakage are also eligible for free emission allowances (European Commission, 2015, p.24). To sum up, free allocation of allowances which prevailed in phases 1 and 2, was replaced by auctioning. How allocation works can be illustrated by the following example: if factory B emits more than can be covered by its freely allocated allowances, it can refer to company A to buy emission allowances or the firm can purchase the allowances in the auction. In other words, if allowances allocated in the first two periods are not sufficient to cover the existing level of emissions, companies can buy allowances either from other companies or through auctions which determine the market price of those allowances.

Next important design elements of the emission trading scheme are *opt-in and pooling* regulations and mechanisms. The EU emissions trading scheme is not voluntary, which means that emitters from the Member States and countries which are part of the European Economic Area Agreements, Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway, are required to comply with the ETS regulations (Newbery, 2012). In addition to this provision, Member States have an opportunity to include other sectors in ETS (Pew Center on Global Climate Policy, 2005). However, this can be done only if valid monitoring mechanisms are available for those sectors.

Article 28 of the EU ETS Directive also emphasizes the pooling mechanisms as one of the important aspects of the emission trading regime which is available for all participating countries (The establishment of the scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowances trading, Directive 2003/87/EC). Under the given mechanism, companies can work together, or in other words share their emissions, in order to meet industry-wide emission objectives.

Alongside the opt-in and pooling regulations, the possibility to *opt-out* plays a significant role in the functioning of the ETS. Moreover, the opt-out regulations shed a light on the opt-in regulations since the EU ETS allows only small enterprises which find it costly to reduce their emissions to opt-out. More precisely, according to the EU Law, Member States can only exclude the facilities that emit less than 25,000 tonnes of emissions per year (The establishment of the scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowances trading, Regulation 421/2014). It indicates that all the facilities emitting above 25,000 tonnes per year automatically fall under the emission trading scheme. Regarding the opt-out regulations exclusively, in addition to small emitters,

hospitals are also granted the possibility to opt-out (Ricardo Energy & Environment, 2015). Alongside the opt-out provisions, the EU ETS specifies free allocation of allowances for electricity generation in some of the Member States with the purpose of "diversification of energy mix and modernization of energy production" (European Commission, n.d.-a)

Next design elements, *monitoring, reporting and verification,* form the ETS compliance cycle (European Commission, 2022a). All the processes within the compliance cycle must be performed in accordance with EU-wide regulations and guidelines (Pew Center on Global Climate Policy, 2005). Each year, installations deliver the emissions reports which have to be validated by the EU-accredited independent verifier (The verification of data and on the accreditation of verifiers pursuant to Directive 2003/87/EC, Regulation 2018/2067, 2018). Besides the information about emission levels, installations are also required to submit information about the emission allowances which were sold or purchased during a year (European Commission, 2021b). Information about the allowances is recorded in the Union Registry which is a centralized EU-level electronic database.

Non-compliance with ETS regulations can lead to either penalties or prosecution. Installations that fail to disclose excess emissions are required to pay €100 for each tonne of undisclosed carbon dioxide emissions (European Commission, 2020).

Finally, the price and the system linking the ETS to the imports will be discussed. The price for a tonne of emissions is not set by the EU. The emission allowances under the cap-and-trade system are traded according to the market mechanisms which means that the price is determined by the demand and supply of the allowances (European Commission, 2021c). For illustration purposes, In February 2022, the price of allowances reached its maximum since 2005 and constituted almost €97 (≈\$101) (Chestney et al., 2022).

In relation to the system linking the ETS to the imports, the EU introduced Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM). Although it is a separate system, CBAM "functions in parallel with the ETS, to mirror and complement its functioning on imported goods" (European Council, 2022). CBAM covers cement, aluminum, fertilizers, electric energy production, iron and steel industries (European Council, 2022).

5.1.2 ETS in Canada

The OBPS is the Canadian version of the ETS implemented at the federal level (Government of Canada, 2022). Unlike the EU ETS, the OBPS operates under the baseline-and-credit principle where the maximum level of emission for each activity is set (Government of Canada, 2022a). Consequently, the system does not operate based on the maximum country-wide emission levels. The limit is calculated according to "the emissions-intensity standard, or output-based standard", for each sectoral activity (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021). The system applies to all the provinces that do not have local emission trading systems in place. Thus, the OBPS currently functions in Manitoba, Prince Edward Island, Yukon, Nunavut, and Saskatchewan (Government of Canada, 2022b). In general, the system operates in the following way: if one facility, or company, emits above its limit, it has to purchase the "offset credits" either from the Federal Government or other companies. If it emits below its maximum, then the company can keep the "surplus credits" for future use or sell them to other firms (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021).

Similar to the previous section, first the *timeframe* of the system will be discussed. The OBPS is part of the Pan-Canadian Framework on Clean Growth and Climate Change which covers the period from 2018 till 2022 (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021a). Consequently, the emission trading scheme was introduced in 2019 based on the provisions of the Pan-Canadian Framework. The first implementation phase of the OBPS is expected to last till 2023 since from 2023 onward the emission trading scheme will be guided by the updated Pan-Canadian Approach (Government of Canada, 2021a). Unlike the EU ETS the first implementation period covers a four-year period. However the government set up an interim evaluation of the system which divides the first implementation phase into 2 two-year periods (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021a). Although not explicitly mentioned, the first stage of implementation can be considered as a pilot phase since during this period the OBPS was not fully operationalized. Only in May and June 2022, the federal government passed supporting regulations concerning the OBPS operationalization such as the Federal Greenhouse Gas Offset System and Output-Based Pricing System Proceeds Fund (Government of Canada, 2022c; Government of Canada, 2022d). The second implementation period is expected to last from 2023 till 2030 as mentioned in the updated Pan-Canadian Approach (Government of Canada, 2021a). In the updated version, the Government of Canada mentions the cap-and-trade

system as one of the possible schemes for emission trading alongside the federal backstop, OBPS. At the same time, the emissions of provinces operating according to the cap-and-trade principle will be measured according to the OBPS principles. In other words, the government will measure whether emission reduction of provinces utilizing cap-and-trade principle is more or equals the emission reduction would they use OBPS. In case, emissions are not reduced to the sufficient level, the cap-and-trade principle is considered not valid. Overall, if we ignore the pilot phase in the EU, the duration of the first and second implementation periods in Canada coincide with the duration of the second and third implementation periods in the EU.

In relation to *sector coverage*, already under the existing framework, the Canadian OBPS covers an extensive number of sectors and industries. More precisely, the emission trading scheme is applicable for energy-intensive industries, or oil and gas production, mineral processing, pulp and paper, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, iron and steel, mining and ore processing, lime and nitrogen fertilizers, food processing, automotive industries, electricity generation and cement (IETA, 2021). The sector coverage under the OBPS is to some extent similar to the sectors covered by the EU ETS. At the same time, the OBPS has a more extensive coverage. For example, pharmaceuticals are not part of the EU ETS. Moreover, unlike the EU ETS, air, marine, rail and road carriers are subject to the fuel charges, or carbon tax rather than carbon pricing (Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing, SC 2018, C. 12, s. 186, 2018).

Although the mechanism for emission allowances is an essential component of the cap-and-trade systems, the baseline-and-credit system does not encompass the allocation mechanisms. If under the cap-and-trade system firms are allowed to emit based on allowances that are allocated to them, under OBPS facilities' emission levels depend on the baseline that is set for industrial activities (Government of Canada, 2022a). As mentioned in the previous section, facilities emitting below their baseline, can either bank the credits for future or sell them to other facilities. The absence of allocation mechanisms which stems from the differences in the principles according to which ETS operates constitute one of the crucial differences between the emission trading schemes in the EU and Canada.

Other important elements of the emission trading regime are *opt-in and pooling* regulations. In general, the OBPS as the EU ETS is not voluntary and as mentioned previously, the system must be applied to provinces that do not have local systems in place. According to the existing regulations, facilities that emit more than 50,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent per year are

considered to be part of the emission trading scheme (Government of Canada, 2022e). In addition, there are voluntary opt-in provisions for firms which emit at least 10,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide per year and which fall into the category of OBPS-covered sectors (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021). Regarding the pooling mechanism of Canadian OBPS, firms can amalgamate and report the emissions as one entity if the registration of each firm is in accordance with the regulations governing the emission trading regime (Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing, SC 2018, C. 12, s. 186, 2018). Although the opt-in regulations are more burdensome in the EU, the pooling mechanisms are similar.

Unlike opt-in and pooling mechanisms, *opt-out* regulations are not explicitly covered by OBPS. The GGPPA is composed of two parts, the emission trading scheme and the fuel charge as means for emission reduction (Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing, SC 2018, C. 12, s. 186, 2018). While the emission trading regime covers large emitters with a certain level of emissions, small emitters are covered by fuel charge. Thus, all facilities emitting below 50,000 tonnes of emission per year have the possibility to opt-out. In general, air, marine and rail transportations have the possibility to opt-out as well as the farms and fisheries in case the fuel is used only for the machinery and vessels that are utilized in their operations (Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing, SC 2018, C. 12, s. 186, 2018). Moreover, hospitals, schools, universities and natural gas distribution pipelines are not covered by the OBPS (Government of Canada, 2018a). From opt-out regulations perspective, the system is similar to the EU ETS only in regards to hospitals which are excluded from both schemes. Although both OBPS and ETS exclude small emitters the threshold differs in two countries. While facilities emitting below 50,000 have the possibility to opt-out in Canada, in the EU only installations emitting below 25,000 are excluded.

Next, the OBPS *monitoring and verification* mechanisms will be covered. Facilities are required to submit the reports that are prepared in accordance with OBPS guidelines on a yearly basis (Government of Canada, 2022a). The reports that are submitted to relevant Ministries must be verified by an accredited third party (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2019). According to the Act amending the GGPPA, facility's reports cannot be verified by the same third party for more than six consecutive years in order to ensure impartiality and independence of the verifiers (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2019). All the reports are submitted to the Environment and Climate Change Canada's Single Window System which is an integrated federal database for OBPS reports (Government of Canada, 2022). In addition to tracking the

submission of reports, the Single Window System also monitors whether all facilities covered by the emission trading scheme are registered. Overall, the monitoring and verification is similar to the EU ETS provisions since under both systems firms have to submit annual reports verified by accredited third parties. Moreover, the Canadian Single Window System is similar to the Union Registry database.

Failure to register or failure to submit the annual reports are regulated by non-compliance provisions. If a company fails to register the penalty is \$2000. In case, facility fails to report the emissions, it is required to pay 1% of the total amount that had to be paid at the reporting date. (Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing, SC 2018, C. 12, s. 186). Moreover, failure to comply with regulations is considered an offense, thus it can result in fine ranging from \$2000 till \$40,000 or "imprisonment not exceeding 12 months", or both (Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing, SC 2018, C. 12, s. 186). In fact, the EU penalties are far more severe in comparison with the Canadian penalties. Therefore, the systems are different in respect to the non-compliance provisions.

Lastly, the price and the systems linking the emission trading scheme to imports will be discussed. Unlike in the EU, the price is set by the federal government in Canada. Initially, the price was set at \$20 per tonne of the emissions (Government of Canada, 2021b). At the same time, the Canadian government increases the price each year. In the first implementation period, the prices increased by \$10 each year (Government of Canada, 2021b). Starting from 2022, prices will increase by \$15 per year with the aim of reaching \$170 per tonne of emissions by 2030 (Government of Canada, 2021b). Alongside the difference in the principles according to which the emission trading schemes operate in the EU and Canada, the methods for setting carbon price constitute the second major difference in the systems.

Regarding the external linkage of the OBPS, in 2020 the federal government proposed to introduce Border Carbon Adjustment (BCA) in order to reduce the risk of carbon leakage and ensure the competitiveness of the domestic companies (Government of Canada, 2021c). Although the system has not been adopted yet, public consultations were finalized in February 2022 (Government of Canada, 2022f). The sectors that are expected to be covered by BCA are "steel, cement, aluminum, and other emissions-intensive industries" (Liberal Party of Canada, n.d.) In fact, the system itself and the sectors covered by it are identical to the EU CBAM.

5.1.3 Discussion of Findings

The comparison of the ETS design elements is summarized in *Table 1*. As seen from the table, out of 9 design elements, only 3 elements are similar in the two jurisdictions, namely, the pooling mechanism, verification and compliance regulations and the systems related to the external linkage of the ETS. First, both the EU and Canada allow companies to pool their emissions for effective GHG emissions reduction. Second, in both jurisdictions, the facilities are required to submit annual reports specifying the facilities' emission levels which must be verified by an accredited third party. Third, although Canada is still in the process of the development of BCA, the system is identical to the EU CBAM. The partially similar design elements are the timeframe and the sector coverage. Canada's first implementation period was set to cover the period from 2019 to 2023. Considering that there was no explicit pilot phase for the OBPS implementation, the first implementation phase in Canada coincides with the second implementation period in the EU. Moreover, the duration of the second implementation period of the OBPS, 2023-2030, coincides with the duration of the third implementation period of the EU ETS, 2013-2020. Therefore, the timeframe is similar only in case we ignore the pilot phase of the EU emission trading scheme. Another partially similar design element are the sectors covered by emission trading schemes. In fact, both the EU and Canada included similar sectors under the ETS. However, Canada has a more extensive list of sectors under the OBPS. For example, food processing and pharmaceuticals are not covered by the EU ETS. Therefore, the sectors are not fully similar in the two jurisdictions. Other design elements are different in the EU and Canada. The price element constitutes one of the major differences between two systems which results from the difference in the principles according to which systems function. Under the EU cap-and-trade system the prices are set by the interplay of the demand and supply forces, whereas in Canada the prices are set by the federal government. Regarding other distinctive features of the ETS, opt-in and opt-out regulations and penalties are far more severe in the EU. For illustration, in Canada, installations emitting twice as much as the facilities under the EU ETS are considered "covered facilities" under the OBPS. Additionally, the OBPS penalties are significantly lower than the EU ETS penalties. Overall, from the policy transfer perspective only similar elements can be subject to the policy transfer.

Table 1. Overview of the ETS Design Elements in the EU and Canada.

Design Elements	EU	Canada		
Timeframe	First implementation period - 2005-2007 Second implementation period - 2008-2012 Third implementation period - 2013-2020 Fourth implementation period - 2021 and beyond	First implementation period - 2019-2023 Second implementation period-2023-2030		
Sectors	Energy-intensive industry, mineral industry, production and processing of ferrous materials, pulp, paper and board, aluminum, carbon capture and storage, petrochemicals and other chemicals, aviation	Oil and gas production, mineral processing, pulp and paper, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, iron and steel, mining and ore processing, lime and nitrogen fertilizers, food processing, automotive industries, electricity generation and cement		
Opt-in regulations	Facilities emitting above 25,000 tonnes of emissions	Facilities emitting above 50,000 tonnes of emissions		
Pooling mechanism	Pooling available	Pooling available		
Opt-out regulations	Facilities emitting below 25,000 tonnes of emission and hospitals	Facilities emitting below 50,000 tonnes of emission and hospitals, schools, universities and natural gas distribution pipelines		
Verification and compliance	Annual Reports verified by accredited third party	Annual Reports verified by accredited third party		
Penalties	€100 per tonne of emissions	1% of the total amount		
Price	Market-based mechanism	Government-set prices		
External Linkage	Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism	Border Carbon Adjustment		

5.2 Political Parties and ETS

As the design elements were already examined, this section will focus on the analysis of Canada's political system, federal parties and their positions on the OBPS through the design elements' perspective. For the full fledged analysis of Hypothesis 1 which states that "the transfer of ETS depends on the ideologies in the receiving country. The more similar the ideologies the more likely Canada is to adopt the ETS from the EU", the EU institutions and their positions on the ETS will be also examined in this section.

5.2.1 Political Parties and Ideology

Canada is a parliamentary democracy where the legislative branch is composed of the Monarch, the Senate and the House of Commons (House of Commons Canada, n.d.). The Senate is an upper chamber and represents the interests of regions (Senate of Canada, n.d.). Although the House of Commons is a lower chamber, it is considered to prevail over the Senate since it represents the interests of the population (Parliament of Canada, 2022). Executive branch of the country is formed by the party that holds a majority in the Parliament and is composed of the Prime Minister and the Cabinet (House of Commons Canada, n.d). The Prime Minister is the leader of the majority party and as the Cabinet is formed by the Prime Minister, ministers are usually the members of that leading party. Considering that political parties have their influence in both executive and legislative branches of the government, they play an essential role in shaping a country's political agenda.

Canada has a diversified party system with 21 registered federal political parties (Elections Canada, 2022). Liberal Party of Canada, Conservative Party of Canada, Green Party of Canada, New Democratic Party, and Bloc Quebecois are five major federal parties represented in the Parliament (Christian & Jansen, 2020).

By the time when first emission trading scheme was introduced at the provincial levels, the House of Commons was dominated by Conservative Party. Conservative Party could form the minority government in the Federal Elections of 2008 and already in the 2011 elections, the party formed the majority government (Lansford, 2019, p. 265). Under the conservative government, Canada took controversial steps toward combating climate change. In 2011, Canada withdrew from Kyoto Protocol, the largest agreement in the climate field during that period, and in the

coming years, the government decreased and eliminated essential environmental regulations, including the elimination of environmental screening for industries such as oil and gas industries (Financial Post, 2013; The Guardian, 2011).

The next federal elections in 2015, 2019 and 2021 were not as successful for the Conservative Party. The Liberal Party of Canada managed to secure the leading position in the Parliament in three consecutive elections (Elections Canada, 2021). Under the Liberal government, Canada experienced significant sustainability-related changes in the political landscape. In 2016 alone, the country ratified the Paris Agreements and introduced the Pan Canadian Framework on Climate Change and Clean Growth which gave a start to the majority of the existing environmental programs (Government of Canada, 2016; OECD, 2021).

During the last elections, in 2021, the Liberal party could not reach the majority (House of Commons, 2021). To secure the majority, liberals referred to another major federal party, the New Democratic Party (NDP), in order to cooperate on the number of issues at stake, including climate change (Zimonjic, 2022). The NDP, which is a social-democratic party, put forward ambitious climate change plans for years. One of the examples is the Climate Change Accountability Act which was initiated by the leader of the NDP, Jack Layton, and constitutes one of the cornerstones of the existing climate change initiatives in Canada (Whitehorn, 2019; New Democratic Party, 2021).

Unlike the Conservative and Liberal parties, the NDP, the Green Party and Bloc Quebecois could not secure the majority in federal elections from the date of their establishment (Lansford, 2019). Consequently, they share the least number of seats in the Parliament. In relation to the environment and climate change, both the Green Party and Bloc Quebecois have "environmental roots". While the Green Party upholds the idea of environment and economic sustainability, Bloc Quebecois, which is a socialist democratic party, was established by the former environment minister in the 1990s (Lansford, 2019). Thus, environment and climate change are high on the agenda for both parties. However, due to the limited number of seats in the Parliament, the parties could not exert significant influence on the climate change regulations in Canada..

5.2.2 Party Position on OBPS in Canada

This section will analyze the positions of the major federal parties on OBPS. Considering that the first implementation phase functions as a pilot period and some of the regulations regarding the

operationalization of the emission trading scheme were adopted after 2019, the positions of the parties on the OBPS after 2019 will be also analyzed.

When the OBPS was introduced at the federal level in 2019, the House of Commons was dominated by the Liberal Party with 185 seats, followed by the Conservative Party with 106 seats and New Democratic Party, Bloc Quebecois and the Green Party with 43, 10 and 2 seats respectively (House of Commons, 2015). The composition of the Parliament was not altered significantly during the election in 2019 and 2021. While the Liberal and Conservative parties had the most seats as a result of elections in 2021, the NDP, Green Party and Bloc Quebecois shared 59 seats in total (House of Commons, 2021).

First, the position of the Liberal Party of Canada on the emission trading scheme will be analyzed. The draft GGPPA, including the OBPS, was introduced by the Liberal Party in 2018 (Prime Minister of Canada, 2018). Liberals justified the system by the successful examples of emission trading in the provinces such as British Columbia. In the discussion of the GGPPA, Jonathan Wilkinson emphasized that British Columbia could significantly reduce emissions while stimulating economic growth in the region (Wilkinson, 2018). Thus, the introduction of the emission trading scheme at the federal level is more likely to yield similar results. Interestingly, the emission trading system that was proposed by the Liberal Party initially was a cap-and-trade system rather than a baseline-and-credit emission scheme (Liberal Party of Canada, 2019) Although the OBPS functions according to the baseline-and-credit system, the regulations that were introduced for the provinces with local ETS outline the cap-and-trade system as the only system that is allowed to be established at the provincial level (Government of Canada, 2021b).

The first design element, the *timeframe*, was the least disputed issue since, alongside the Liberal Party, other federal parties also agreed to set the first timeframe till 2023 in order to have an opportunity to measure the results (Liberal Party of Canada, 2019). The next implementation period will focus on achieving the climate change target through OBPS by 2030. Considering that all parties refer to 2030 as a target year, it is reasonable to argue that the timeframe was agreed upon among the parties.

In relation to the *price*, the Liberal Party under the leadership of Justin Trudeau set the price of \$20 per tonne of carbon dioxide which is expected to increase by \$10 each year and reach \$130 per tonne of carbon dioxide emissions in 2030 (Liberal Party of Canada, 2019). Already in 2021,

the Party proposed a new target of reaching \$170 per tonne of emissions by 2030 (Zimonjic, 2021).

Although the EU is not mentioned explicitly, some members of the Liberal party outline that it is important to follow the trends in the world arena since by 2018, already 67 jurisdictions had carbon pricing in place (Lightbound, 2018). Out of these countries, 27 countries, or 40% of all countries with ETS, are the EU Member States.

Moreover, according to the 2021 election platform, the Liberal Party intends to extend the carbon pricing, or OBPS, to *imports*. Liberals plan to introduce the Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism "similar to the European Union's approach" (Liberal Party of Canada, 2021, p.41). The sequence of measures suggested by the Liberal Party mirrors the EU's approach, where CBAM was also initiated to complement the emission trading scheme. Additionally, the sectors that are expected to be covered by Canadian CBAM are similar to sectors covered by EU CBAM.

Conservative Party, unlike the Liberal Party of Canada, was not in favor of the emission trading scheme. The Party proposed a different system under which firms that emit above the allowed maximum are required to invest in green technologies (Tasker, 2019). Although conservatives referred to the OBPS as a carbon tax, the Supreme Court's ruling specified that the system is not functioning according to the taxation principles and therefore, the OBPS should be referred to as a carbon pricing system (Supreme Court of Canada, 2021).

Regarding *the sectors* covered by the carbon pricing system, the most sensitive sector for the Conservative party was farmers. They were radically against including farmers in the scheme (Bergen, 2018). Unlike other issues where liberal and conservative parties' interests overlapped, liberals shared their views on this issue. However, the partys' preferences did not coincide in regard to fisheries. Unlike conservatives, the Liberal party supported the inclusion of fisheries in the OBPS (Forrest, 2018). Despite the difference in the preferences, final regulations included fisheries as a sector that is eligible for the exemption certificate.

The price for OBPS was one of the most controversial issues under the GGPPA. Conservatives proposed a price of \$20 per tonne of emission which would increase to a maximum of \$50 per tonne of carbon dioxide (Bulowski, 2021). Although the Conservative Party stuck to the \$50 in the 2021 elections, its plan for combating climate change emphasizes that the Party is considering raising the price for industrial emissions to \$170 but only in case other jurisdictions

set a similar price (Conservative Party of Canada, 2021). More precisely, conservatives argue that the price of \$170 should be reviewed till 2023 since it should be tied to Canada's major trading partners, namely the EU and the U.S (Conservative Party of Canada, 2021). Considering that the U.S does not have federal ETS, the prices are expected to be monitored against the prices of the EU ETS. Thus, while conservatives plan to collaborate with the U.S to assist them in setting carbon pricing standards, cooperation with the EU will assist Canada in designing the emission trading scheme which adheres to the global standards.

The *opt-in regulations* were also on the agenda of the Party. If liberals proposed to include the facilities that emit more than 50,000 tonnes of emissions per year, conservatives put forward the threshold of 40,000 tonnes of emissions per year (Connolly, 2019). As it was mentioned previously, the Conservative Party did not support the OBPS and proposed a different system. Thus, the amount of 40,000 was suggested for the system designed by the Conservative Party rather than OBPS.

Similar to the Liberal Party, the Conservative Party supported the introduction of the BCA. However, in 2021 election platform, the party proposed to tie the system to the U.S rather than EU CBAM (Conservative Party of Canada, 2021)

Unlike the Conservative Party, *the NDP* supported the federal emission trading scheme. The Party also put forward the idea that the federal carbon pricing system should provide minimum standards for the provinces that already have emission trading schemes and design new models for the provinces that do not have any carbon pricing initiatives in place (Blaikie, 2018). Despite the fact that almost all members were in favor of the initiative, they did not agree with the Liberal government's plan. According to the party, the liberal government's proposal for emission reduction is not ambitious for reaching the targets by 2030. In its election platform, the NDP mentions that it will continue with the existing carbon pricing in case the party wins the majority in the Parliament (New Democratic Party, 2021). However, the Party would introduce more stringent regulations in order to ensure that companies do not use offset credits to escape from its climate responsibilities (New Democratic Party, 2021).

In relation to *sector coverage*, the Party proposed to first cover the heavy industry and introduce stricter regulations for the energy-intensive industries (CBC, 2019). In fact, the proposed sector coverage is similar to the Liberal Party's proposal.

The NDP also shared a similar position on the *price and opt-in regulations* with the Liberal Party. The members of the Party suggested keeping the threshold for opt-in at 50,000 tonnes (Connolly, 2019). Regarding the price, the NDP proposed to set a price at \$50 per tonne of emissions which would gradually increase by 2030 (Connolly, 2019). At the same time, the amount by which the price was suggested to increase was not specified.

In the 2019 election platform, the NDP also raised an issue regarding *compliance and the carbon border adjustment scheme*. The Party proposed to introduce mandatory external audits for annual reports that are regarded under the OBPS (Farand, 2019). Additionally, the NDP was pushing for the CBA system during the elections in 2019 and 2021 since the carbon pricing would be ineffective if it is not extended to imports (Winter, 2021).

Although the NDP referred to *the price, sector coverage, compliance and carbon border adjustment system*, some media outlets point to the fact that the Party's proposal was vague and did not put forward any specific recommendations (Clean Prosperity, 2021)

Similar to the New Democratic Party, *the Green Party* was also in favor of an output-based pricing system for the provinces that do not have their ETS. However, some members of the Green Party argued that more ambitious plans for carbon pricing should be developed (May, 2018). Green Party's 2021 election platform is referring to the EU-pledged ambitions of reaching a 55% reduction in GHG emissions by 2030 in comparison with 1990 emission levels thereby emphasizing the need to enhance Canada's targets in line with the targets of its peers (Green Party, 2021).

Regarding the *pricing*, the Green Party supported the initial *price* that was set at \$20. At the same time, they proposed to increase the price by \$10 until Canada reaches net-zero emissions (Connolly, 2019). In their recent election platform, they suggest even more ambitious targets by increasing the price by \$25 each year (Green Party, 2021).

Another aspect of the Green Party's plan is concerned with the expansion of the OBPS sector coverage. The Green Party proposed to include both small and large emitters into the OBPS which means that the party supports increasing coverage of the system (Connolly, 2019). Although not explicitly mentioned, including smaller emitters concerns both the expansion of the covered sectors and the reduction of the threshold for *opt-in regulations* since small and medium sized enterprises emit significantly less than large businesses. Alongside this proposal, the Party

also put forward an idea to incorporate international aviation and shipping into the OBPS-covered sectors (Green Party, 2021).

Unlike other parties, the Green Party also raised an issue about *penalties*. The Party was not in favor of the penalties proposed by the Liberal Party and put forward an idea to make penalties for industrial emitters, which exceed threshold, far more severe (CUTRIC, 2019).

The Green Party was also in favor of Carbon Border Adjustment and included the establishment of *the system linking the OBPS to the imports* in their election platform in 2021 (Clean Energy Canada, 2021)

Bloc Quebecois followed the patterns of the NDP and the Green Party. Although the Party supports the OBPS, it does not consider the Liberal Party's plan to be effective in terms of achieving the climate change goals (CBC, 2019). In fact, Bloc Quebecois was one of the first parties to support emission trading. In its 2011 election platform the Party proposed to introduce the cap-and-trade system in all provinces (Demerse, 2011). Despite the detailed analysis of the targets and strong commitment to carbon trading, the Party's plan for carbon pricing was not detailed in terms of design elements (Demerse, 2011). For example, Bloc Quebecois did not mention the timeframe for the proposed emission trading scheme. One of its recent election platforms is also lacking the details. Again, despite the support for the system, Bloc Quebecois did not mention the details of the emission trading scheme such as the sectors that should be covered by the emission trading. Additionally, the Party did not reveal its position regarding the opt-in and opt-out regulations. At the same time, the members of the Party were more specific in relation to price. They proposed to set a *price* of \$30 per tonne of emissions and raise it to \$200 per tonne of emitted carbon dioxide by 2030 (CBC, 2019). Already in its 2021 election platform, Bloc Quebecois proposed to modify the system through "green equalization" according to which the burden of the carbon pricing would fall on more polluting provinces (Bloc Quebecois, 2021).

5.2.3 EU Institutions and ETS

The analysis of the party political ideologies in Canada is not sufficient to confirm or reject the first hypothesis. Thus, the dominating ideologies in the EU by the time when ETS was established need to be investigated as well. Thus, this section will examine the EU institutions, their composition and position on the Directive 2003/87/ec establishing the ETS.

5.2.3.1 EU Institutions

The EU is a political and economic union comprising 27 Member States (Publications Office of the European Union, 2020). The institutional architecture of the Union is complex and consists of 7 main institutions: Council of the European Council and the European Council, European Commission, European Parliament, European Court of Justice, European Central Bank and European Court of Auditors (Hix & Høyland, 2011, p.8-9). Among these institutions, the Council of the European Council, European Commission and European Parliament are directly involved in the law-making and policy execution. The European Commission is an executive body mainly responsible for policy initiation and implementation (European Commission, n.d.-b). The Council of the European Union, also referred to as the Council of Ministers or the Council, is simultaneously a decision-making and executive body (Hix & Høyland, 2011, p.8). As an executive body, it deals with the Common Foreign and Security Policy, and as a legislative branch of the Union, the Council adopts the law (Lelieveldt & Princen, 2015, p.55-56). Regarding its organization, the ministers in the Council are headed by the Presidency, which "rotates every six months between the Member States" (Hix & Høyland, 2011, p.8). The European Parliament is vested with legislative power. The Parliament consists of 705 members which are elected from the national parties every five years (European Parliament, n.d.). Consequently, they are represented according to their ideological inclinations rather than nationality (Lelieveldt & Princen, 2015, p.61). Members with similar political affiliation sit in one political group.

Considering that this study focuses on the decision-making rather than implementation of the policies, the positions of the legislative bodies, namely the Parliament, which represents the interests of EU citizens, and the Council representing the interests of the Member States, will be analyzed in the next section.

5.2.3.2 EU Institutions and their positions on ETS

When the emission trading scheme was proposed in the EU, the European Parliament was dominated by the center-right European People's Party and European Democrats, EPP-ED (European Parliament, 1999). After the EPP-ED, the Party with almost 30% of seats was the left-wing Party of European Socialists, PES. (European Parliament, 1999). Although the Parliament was dominated by the right-wing party, the majority of the remaining seats were allocated among the left-wing parties, namely the ELDR, European Liberal Democrat and Reform Party, The Left, former GUE/NGL, and Greens/EFA. (European Parliament, 1999).

Only during the first reading in 2002, the European Parliament made 73 amendments to the Commission's proposal (Scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the Community; Document A5-0303/2002, 2002). The amendments revealed that the Parliament supported more flexible ETS. For example, it supported voluntary opt-in and opt-out regulations in case the facilities have some systems in place that ensure the reduction of GHG (Scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the Community and amending Council Directive 96/61/EC; Document A5-0303/2002, 2002). Moreover, the Parliament proposed to allow the Member State with existing emission trading schemes to stick to their systems rather than adjusting it to the EU ETS. The suggested threshold of 50,000 tonnes also indicates the support for less challenging ETS by the European Parliament. (Scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the Community and amending Council Directive 96/61/EC; Document A5-0303/2002, 2002).

As mentioned previously, the Council is composed of the ministers from all Member States. Thus, the discussion of the ETS in the Council took place among the ministers from relevant fields. When the ETS was proposed by the Commission, there were 15 Member States in the EU (European Union, 2009). Consequently, the discussion of the ETS in the Council involved 15 ministers. Considering that the ministers are the key players in the given institution, the ideological inclinations of the ministers should be identified to reveal the general ideological preferences of the Council. In parliamentary systems, the ideological preferences of the ministers can be identified through the dominant parties in the Parliament since the Prime Minister and the Cabinet are appointed from the leading party. In the presidential and semi-presidential system, the cabinet is formed by the President who is not necessarily a member of the leading party, therefore the political affiliation of the head of state provides a hint on the ideological

preferences of the cabinet. Among these countries only France has a semi-presidential system while the other 14 Member States are parliamentary democracies. Therefore, for the identification of ideologies in the latter countries, the leading parties should be determined and for France, defining the party to which the President belongs is sufficient.

When the proposal was made, 9 out of 15 Member States were dominated by the center-left parties which signals the liberal ideological inclinations of the Council. Only France, Italy, Luxembourg, Denmark, Ireland and Spain were governed by the center-right parties. In fact, the domination of the liberal ideology in the Council was reflected in the Council's preferences.

Unlike the Parliament, the Council agreed on the Commission's proposal to establish the ETS (Scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the Community and amending Council Directive 96/61/EC; 2001/0245 (COD), 2003). Out of 73 amendments made by the Parliament during the first reading, the Council agreed only on 20 of these amendments (Scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the Community and amending Council Directive 96/61/EC; 2001/0245 (COD), 2003). The Council did not agree on voluntary opt-in and opt-out regulations and pushed for a more ambitious and rigorous emission trading scheme.

Overall, the final decision was closer to the proposals and amendments made by the Council rather than the Parliament. It indicates that the left-wing ideologies were more supportive of integrated and ambitious ETS since the Parliament, which was dominated by right-wing parties, was in favor of more relaxed regulations.

5.2.4 Discussion of Findings

This section will elaborate on the implications of the analysis. First, this chapter analyzed the positions of five federal parties through the lens of the ETS design elements. *Table 2* illustrates that the parties did not have clearly defined positions on all components of the OBPS. Interestingly, while the parties had specific preferences regarding the price, opt-in and opt-out regulations, most of the parties did not have preferences regarding the similar elements of the emission trading schemes, except for the system linking the OBPS to the imports. The Liberal and the Green parties were the main proponents of the BCA. Moreover, they proposed the BCA design which mirrors the EU approach to the carbon border adjustment. However, unlike the Green Party, the Liberal Party explicitly referred to the EU CBAM in its 2019 and 2021 election

platforms. The Conservative Party was also in favor of the BCA. Nevertheless, the Party proposed to refer to the carbon border adjustment regulation in the USA rather than the EU. Other components of the OBPS that are identical in both the EU and Canada, namely the compliance and pooling mechanisms were not discussed among the federal parties.

In contrast to the similar elements, divergent features of the emission trading schemes were the most discussed issues among the federal parties. Additionally, in some cases parties referred to the EU in the discussion of the contrasting elements such as prices. At the same time, the referral was made to propose the linkage between the two systems rather than proposing the similar system. For example, the Conservative party proposed to tie the prices under the OBPS to the prices at the EU.

The Green Party presents an interesting case since it preferred measures that are more aligned with the existing EU ETS systems rather than OBPS. For instance, the members of the Green Party viewed the penalties proposed by the Liberal party as ineffective and proposed higher prices for non-compliance. Moreover, they suggested decreasing the threshold of 50,000 tonnes in order to increase the effectiveness of the OBPS. In parallel with recommendations concerning the penalties and opt-in and opt-out regulations, one of the most important proposals was the inclusion of international aviation and marine transport into the sectors covered by the emission trading scheme. The latter recommendation reflects the EU approach to the ETS. At the same time, the Party does not refer to the EU in its proposals.

Although the Liberal and Green parties' opinion did not coincide concerning the severity of measures, both parties supported the establishment of the OBPS. Unlike the left-wing parties, the right-wing parties, namely the Conservative Party and Bloc Quebecois were less supportive of the OBPS. In the case of Bloc Quebecois, despite the fact that it was one of the first parties to propose the cap-and-trade system in 2011, it held a neutral position on the OBPS which can be deduced from the absence of the concrete recommendations regarding the design elements. The Conservative Party was against the OBPS and proposed a completely different system.

*Table 2*Political Parties in Canada and their Positions on OBPS Design Elements.

	Liberal Party	Conservative Party	NDP	Green Party	Bloc Quebecois
Timeframe	2019-2023 2023-2030	2019-2023 2023-2030	2019-2023 2023-2030	2019-2023 2023-2030	2019-2023 2023-2030
Sectors	All sectors under the proposed OBPS	Against inclusion of farmers and fisheries	All sectors under the proposed OBPS	Expanding the proposed sectors to aviation and shipping	-
Opt-in regulations	Facilities emitting above 50,000 tonnes per year	Facilities emitting bove 40,000 tonnes per year	Facilities emitting above 50,000 tonnes per year	Facilities emitting below 50,000 per year	
Pooling mechanism	-	-	-	-	-
Opt-out regulations	-	-	-	-	-
Verification and compliance	-	-	Mandatory external audits	-	-
Penalties	-	-	-	More severe penalties	-
Price	\$170 per tonne till 2030	50\$ per tonne till 2030	\$170 per tonne till 2030	\$285 per tonne till 2030	\$200 per tonne till 2030
External Linkage	BCA	BCA	BCA	BCA	-

The similar conclusions can be observed from the analysis of the EU legislative bodies, the European Parliament and the Council. The Parliament, which was dominated by the conservative group, EPP-ED, at the time when the ETS directive was adopted, was in favor of a more flexible system. Unlike in the Parliament, liberal ideology prevailed in the Council. The liberal

ideological inclinations were reflected in the Council's position toward the ETS. The Council was in favor of integrated and more ambitious ETS.

Overall, based on the analysis of the political parties in Canada it is reasonable to claim that Hypothesis 1 is partially accepted. The hypothesis states that "According to the logic of appropriateness, the transfer of ETS depends on the ideologies in the receiving country. The more similar the ideologies the more likely Canada is to adopt the ETS from the EU". Considering that only three elements are similar across the two jurisdictions and the parties did not discuss these components and did not refer to the EU in the discussion of other elements, the transfer did not occur. From this perspective, the hypothesis is rejected. However, the analysis revealed that the left-wing parties are more likely to support the emission trading scheme. In the EU, the Council was dominated by the left-wing ministers who could push for their preferences in the scheme and in Canada, the Parliament was led by the Liberal Party by the time the emission trading schemes were introduced in these jurisdictions. It indicates that the more similar the ideologies, in this case, the left ideologies, the more likely the country is to adopt the ETS. The partial acceptance of the first hypothesis is also backed by the fact that the OBPS, like the EU ETS, is an emission trading scheme, which simply functions according to the different principles. Although the federal parties in Canada did not refer to the EU in the design elements, some of the parties justified the introduction of the OBPS by the existence of the ETS in many jurisdictions including the EU. It indicates that the system was adapted to the local context at the federal level, since the provinces with the existing emission trading schemes are required to have cap-and-trade systems rather than the baseline-and-credit system envisioned by the OBPS.

5.3 Interest Groups and ETS

The following sections will provide an overview of the business and environment interest groups in Canada and will analyze the positions of the selected interest groups on the OBPS. The analysis of interest groups' preferences will be conducted in order to test *hypothesis 2* which states that "the transfer of ETS depends on the Canadian domestic interests. The more likely the EU ETS to appeal to interest groups preferences the more likely Canada is to adopt the ETS from the EU".

5.3.1 Interest Groups in Canada

Almost 20,000 recognized interest groups exist in Canada (Canadian Abilities Foundation, 2021). By the end of the last century, more and more interest groups defending the environment and promoting sustainability started to play a vital role in the country's political environment (Hummel, 2022). Among several major environmental groups that operate at the federal level, Climate Action Network Canada (CAN) receives special attention due to its large membership and active involvement in policy-making (Patterson, 2014). As a representative of more than 100 organizations operating in the climate field, CAN aims to "advance practical policies and front-line solutions to manage our carbon pollution and address the front-line impacts of climate change, through sustainable development that leaves no one behind" (CAN, n.d.). Although CAN serves as a unified voice of its members both in the international and national arena, some of the members are also active individually.

Environmental Defense, a member of the CAN, is one of the most active interest groups in the field, with more than 250,000 members who strive for a "climate safe, toxic-free and healthy environment" (Environmental Defense, n.d). The interest group is actively involved in policy-making through its frequent policy analysis of environmental policies (Environmental Defense & Conservation Council of New Brunswick, 2021). Its advocacy achievements at both provincial and federal levels are regularly articulated in its reports (Environmental Defense, 2018).

Another interest group that is part of the CAN but at the same time is successful in influencing federal policy-making is the Pembina Institute. The organization positions itself as a non-profit

think tank with the mission "to advance a prosperous clean energy future for Canada through credible policy solutions that support communities, the economy and a safe climate" (Pembina Institute, n.d). Due to the fact that the Institute is a member of CAN and the majority of its work is concerned with the environment, the Pembina Institute can be classified as a public interest, or more precisely, the environmental interest group. Moreover, collaboration with renewable energy, health and environmental NGOs and associations to advance their interests to the federal level underpins such classification (Pembina Institute, 2022).

When it comes to business or industry groups, the most active interest groups are the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers (CAPP) and Electricity Canada.

CAPP represents the interests of the businesses operating in the oil and gas industry (CAPP, 2022). It is one of the biggest associations in the field since its members produce almost 80% of Canadian oil and gas (CAPP, n.d). Although CAPP recognizes the necessity of incorporating environmental values in the companies' operations, the interest group articulates the importance of oil and gas in the Canadian economy by supporting energy projects and policies (CAPP, 2018). For example, the Association is a major supporter of one of the most controversial policies in Canada's political landscape, namely the expansion of oil and gas pipelines (CAPP, 2022a).

Electricity Canada is another major association representing the interests of 42 companies operating in the energy-intensive field (Electricity Canada, n.d). Electricity Canada positions itself as "a voice of the evolving and innovative electricity business in Canada" (Electricity Canada, 2021). In recent years, it also incorporated the concept of sustainability into its mission. Among Electricity Canada's success stories is the adoption of the Smart Renewables and Electrification Pathways Program by the Federal Government in 2021, which gave a start to the electrification programs in Canada (Electricity Canada, 2021a).

5.3.2 Interest Groups' Position on OBPS in Canada

This section will examine the positions of the selected interest groups on emission trading in Canada. For a similar reason as in the section about the political parties, the positions of the most interest groups on the emission trading scheme was revealed after 2019. Therefore, the interest groups' preferences after 2019 will be also examined.

Almost all environmental groups supported carbon pricing. CAN was also among the interest groups that were in favor of OBPS. In the assessment report published in 2021, the interest group emphasized carbon pricing as one of the most important tools to fight climate change (CAN, 2021). At the same time, it did not regard federal requirements under the OBPS to be sufficient for reaching the desired level of emission reduction (CAN, 2021). Since the report was published at the time when OBPS regulations under GGPPA were already adopted, the CAN put forward some recommendations to increase the effectiveness of the system.

First, regarding *the sectors* covered by the emission trading, the Network suggests introducing more rigorous regulations, especially concerning the large emitters, including the emitters which are "trade-exposed" (CAN, 2021, p. 12). This recommendation also concerns *opt-in regulations* since by suggesting to expand the sectors, the interest group implicitly refers to the threshold for OBPS eligibility which is currently set at 50,000 tonnes of the emissions per year. The CAN was also concerned that the current carbon pricing policies do not cover the emissions from the air, road and marine transport (CAN, 2021, p.13).

Second, the interest group outlines the importance of doubling or even tripling *the price* per tonne of emissions by 2030 (CAN, 2021). Consequently, instead of reaching \$170 per tonne of emissions, the interest group expects the price to be in a range between \$340-\$510. The CAN motivates this recommendation by the fact that without raising the price, it will be impossible to achieve the targets by 2030.

As a member of CAN, Environmental Defense was also in favor of carbon pricing. However, unlike the CAN the given interest group had a more specific position in relation to the emission trading scheme. In 2021, the interest group assessed the effectiveness of OBPS (Environmental Defense & Conservation Council of New Brunswick, 2021). The assessment report was prepared together with the Conservation Council of New Brunswick, a non-profit environmental organization, and submitted to the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Canada. Alongside the evaluation, the report articulates the position of Environmental Defense on carbon pricing. Although the members of Environmental Defense supported the OBPS, they shared the position of the CAN on the insufficiency of existing measures (Environmental Defense & Conservation Council of New Brunswick, 2021). First, regarding the *opt-in regulations*, they propose to introduce more stringent regulations for steel, cement, and chemical industries since these are the "truly-emission intensive" sectors (Environmental Defense & Conservation Council

of New Brunswick, 2021, p.2). Regarding the *sector coverage*, the interest groups recommend excluding the electricity sector from carbon pricing. As electrification plays a vital role in the transition to renewable energy, the interest group suggests treating this sector as a "strategic national asset" and removing it from the carbon pricing system (Environmental Defense & Conservation Council of New Brunswick, 2021). In addition, since the majority of current regulations are concerned with carbon dioxide emissions only, Environmental Defense recommends developing regulations that cover all industrial emissions.

One of the most essential contributions provided by the assessment is the recommendation to adjust the emission trading scheme to the design of the ETS in California rather than the EU ETS considering that Quebec's cap-and-trade system is already connected with the cap-and-trade program of California (Environmental Defense & Conservation Council of New Brunswick, 2021).

Similar to the CAN and Environmental Defense, Pembina Institute was one of the advocates of the OBPS. The Institute's position on carbon pricing was first released in 2008 when the conservative government published its climate change plan encompassing the emission trading system (Pembina Institute, 2008). Although the Pembina Institute does not refer to the EU ETS in its report, the proposed measures mirror the emission trading scheme in the EU. Unlike the liberal government's proposal to establish a baseline-and-credit system, the interest group advocated the cap-and-trade system (Pembina Institute, 2008, p.1). Moreover, the report suggests allocating the allowances free of charge and introducing auctioning over time which is another design element reflecting the EU ETS. The major difference between the recommendations made in 2008 and the existing system is related to the prices. In 2008, the Pembina Institute recommended a price of \$50 in 2015 and a minimum of \$75 per tonne of emissions in 2020 which is significantly higher than the prices set under the GPPAA (Pembina Institute, 2008). When the plan for the existing system was released by the liberal government, the institute also published a report advocating some changes to the proposed OBPS. Overall, the report emphasized the necessity of the OBPS for meeting Canada's climate change objectives. The Pembina Institute justified the introduction of the OBPS by the examples of the carbon pricing systems in some U.S cities and the EU (Pembina Institute, 2017, p.5). Regarding the recommendations, first, the interest group suggested increasing the sector coverage under emission trading and making it as broad as possible (Pembina Institute, 2017). Second, the

Institute proposed to consider the system more carefully to ensure that the carbon pricing does not create an additional burden for society. Although the organization did not specify the exact *prices* in their report, it explicitly outlined the need to increase prices till 2030 (Pembina Institute, 2017, p.15). The Pembina Institute is also one of the few interest groups which mentioned the importance of the stringent *compliance regulations* since the effectiveness of the system can only be assessed through regular and proper compliance mechanisms.

Unlike environmental groups, business or industry associations did not have a unified position on the OBPS. The first business group selected for the analysis, the CAPP, was not in favor of the proposed measures although it was not publicly announced. In 2020, the Association provided the Federal government with a list of actions that were necessary for Canada's recovery from COVID-19 (Environmental Defense, 2020). According to the document, the CAPP recommends the government to suspend all activities envisioned under the GGPPA. The document also articulates the interest group's position on the prices established by OBPS regulations. The members of the CAPP suggest setting a price of \$30 per tonne of emission instead of \$50. Moreover, the Association is against incremental price increase till 2030 (Environmental Defense, 2020). The CAPP recommends considering price increase only after the economy is fully recovered. Interest group members justify their position by the fact that the cost will increase not only for industry but for the public as well. Although the document was released by the environmental group as a leaked document, the negative predisposition of the CAPP towards the carbon pricing was justified by the letters referred to the CAPP by British Petroleum (BP) and Royal Dutch Shell. BP responded to the measures proposed by the CAPP by urging it to align its position on carbon pricing with the positions of BP and other companies and organizations (BP Canada, 2020). BP did not support the recommendations to suspend activities under the GGPPA and specifically the proposal to leave the prices at the 2020 level. Shell also urged the CAPP to support carbon pricing as it is one of the most effective tools to fight climate change (Bakx, 2019). Moreover, Shell explicitly emphasizes that the Association should align its position on carbon pricing by publicly supporting the new system. The letters provide evidence for the CAPP's negative position on carbon pricing.

In previous years, CAPP raised another topic whereby the Association would support the introduction of carbon pricing only in case the government would support oil and gas pipelines (Linnitt et al., 2017). It can be considered that the liberal government and the CAPP reached a

deal since the government could pass the GGPPA and the oil and gas industries receive government support in pipelines and oil sand projects (Government of Canada, 2021d).

Similar to environmental interest groups, the CAPP is not referring to the EU in their publications and news releases. Some media outlets compare CAPP's approach to climate policy in general and emission trading specifically to the Trump Administration's approach to these issues (Hislop, 2018). The inclination toward the U.S approach rather than the EU's is explicitly mentioned in their annual climate reports (CAPP, 2018).

Electricity Canada, the former Canadian Electricity Association, is another major interest group which has a stake in carbon pricing since electricity is a highly energy-intensive field. In its response to the introduction of OBPS, Electricity Canada was concerned about the inadequate consultation with interest groups prior to the submission of draft legislation to the House of Commons (Electricity Canada, 2018). While Electricity Canada supported the OBPS, it did not agree on the new systems' *coverage*. More precisely, the interest group considered that electricity should be excluded from the OBPS for two reasons. First, it would increase prices for households and second, electricity is vital in the transition to renewable energy (Electricity Canada, 2018). Before the regulation was adopted, Electricity Canada advocated the exclusion of at least "diesel-fired electricity generation" from the OBPS (Electricity Canada, 2018). However, in the final regulations, the electricity, including the diesel-fired electricity generation, did not fall under the exemption category (Electricity Canada, 2019).

Despite the fact that electricity is covered by the emission trading scheme, Electricity Canada's annual reports outline that the government introduced financial support for the modernization of the electricity sector (Electricity Canada, 2018a). The interest group does not refer to the EU in its reports. However, the approach is similar to the EU ETS since the EU loosened the regulations concerning emissions from modernization of the electricity sector.

Furthermore, the report acknowledges that existing regulations that cover the electricity sector are burdensome and the more regulations are in place the higher the compliance costs. In this section, Electricity Canada suggests establishing oversight agencies similar to Germany and Denmark in order to assess the effectiveness and the costs of new policies for households, companies and government (Electricity Canada, 2018a).

In a similar report published in 2022, the Electricity Canada again refers to the EU by emphasizing the role of government involvement which helps to maintain adequate price levels,

thereby pointing to the need to exclude the electricity sector from the OBPS (Electricity Canada, 2022).

5.3.3 Discussion of Findings

This section will elaborate on the implications of the analysis of the interest groups positions on OBPS

Generally, almost all interest groups had specific positions towards the OBPS. At the same time, neither of the interest groups had detailed preferences in relation to all design elements. Similar to the political parties, the most debatable issues were the prices and sector coverage. However, even in the discussion of these elements of the OBPS they rarely refer to the EU.

Regarding the preferences of each camp of the interest groups specifically, the environmental interest groups had a more consistent position on the OBPS. All of the groups had a positive perception of the emission trading scheme. However, they did not completely agree with the proposed measures and recommended setting more ambitious targets and measures for GHG emission reduction. Some of the recommendations were similar to the design elements under the EU ETS. For example, the CAN proposed to include aviation in the OBPS. Moreover, most of the environmental interest groups were in favor of the cap-and-trade system. Nevertheless, they did not refer to the EU in their recommendations. On the other hand, the Environmental Defense proposed linking the emission trading scheme to the existing system in California rather than the EU cap-and-trade system. Similar to the political parties, the environmental interest groups referred to the EU mostly as a general justification for the introduction of the emission trading scheme in Canada.

Unlike the environmental groups, business groups had ambiguous positions towards the OBPS. Although all business groups recognized the need to reduce emissions to combat climate change, they did not agree on some of the provisions, which were directly linked to the constituencies they represent. For instance, Electricity Canada did not agree on the inclusion of the electricity sector while the CAPP did not support the prices. As analysis revealed, one of the possible reasons for their latter support of the OBPS lies in the tradeoff between the government and these business groups. Government support for oil and gas pipelines expansion and financial support for electricity sector modernizations left both the CAPP and Electricity Canada satisfied with the

existing system. Similar to environmental interest groups, they do not refer to the EU in their preferences. If almost all environmental groups had recommendations which are to some extent aligned to the EU ETS design components, industry groups did not propose any specific measures similar to the European emission trading scheme. In fact, business groups, more precisely the CAPP were more inclined towards the U.S approach rather than the EU's.

Overall, the majority of the interest groups were in favor of the OBPS. However, none of the interest groups referred to the EU in their positions. Therefore, Hypothesis 2: According to the logic of consequence, the transfer of ETS depends on Canadian domestic interests. The more likely the EU ETS to appeal to interest groups preferences the more likely Canada is to adopt the ETS from the EU is only partially accepted. Although the OBPS appealed to the Canadian interest groups and some of the recommendations were in line with the EU ETS, they did not refer to the EU in their proposals. In fact, their frequent referral to the U.S indicates the importance of geographical proximity in the policy transfer.

6. Conclusion

This study aimed to investigate which of the theories, logic of appropriateness or logic of consequence, provide greater explanatory leverage for a policy transfer based on the case of the ETS transfer from the EU to Canada. The congruence analysis was utilized in order to reveal which of the theories provide a better explanation. The logic of appropriateness was operationalized through the party political ideology while the logic of consequence was analyzed through the interest group preferences.

The empirical analysis revealed that Hypothesis 1 "According to the logic of appropriateness, the transfer of ETS depends on the ideologies in the receiving country. The more similar the ideologies the more likely Canada is to adopt the ETS from the EU" is partially rejected. It is rejected due to the fact that only three similar elements were found across the emission trading schemes in the EU and Canada and the political parties did not refer to the EU in the discussion of these elements. Although the federal parties in Canada referred to the EU occasionally, the referral was made to justify the introduction of the local ETS in Canada. At the same time, if we refer to the first part of the hypothesis which states that the transfer depends on the ideologies in the receiving country, the hypothesis is accepted. Both jurisdictions were dominated by the left-wing parties by the time when ETS was introduced. It indicates that ideologies played a role in the transfer of the OBPS, which, similar to the EU ETS, is an emission trading scheme Consequently, the left ideologies are more receptive to the ETS regardless of the principles according to which they function.

The second hypothesis of the study "According to the logic of consequence, the transfer of ETS depends on Canadian domestic interests. The more likely the EU ETS to appeal to interest groups' preferences the more likely Canada is to adopt the ETS from the EU" is also partially rejected. Although some of the recommendations were aligned with the design elements in the EU ETS, interest groups did not refer to the EU in their proposals. Instead of referring to the EU, some interest groups referred frequently to the emission trading scheme in the U.S. At the same time, the interest groups supported the OBPS. The system appealed to both environmental groups, which pushed for a more ambitious system in future, and the business groups. Therefore, it can be concluded that interest groups' preferences played a role in the adoption of OBPS.

The empirical findings should be considered in the context of some limitations. The first limitation is related to the methodology. This study is mainly based on the analysis of primary sources, namely the documents, parliamentary debates and official statements. Although these sources provide accurate and up to date information, sometimes documents are incomplete and do not fully cover the information that is considered under the analysis. For example, the positions of the political parties on the similar ETS elements were not covered by the analyzed sources. Therefore, in light of the given limitation, one of the recommendations would be to expand this study with interviews with the members of political parties and interest groups in Canada. Interviews can provide an insight into the design elements which were not discussed in the primary sources and, therefore, such study can reveal different results. The next limitation is associated with the terms utilized in this study. More precisely, some political parties and interest groups referred to the OBPS as a carbon tax before 2021 which created another obstacle in the data collection process. Only after the Supreme Court's ruling specifying that the OBPS is carbon pricing rather than a carbon tax, the proper terms started to be utilized in the documents and media releases. The last limitation is related to the lack of previous studies about the transfer of the EU ETS to other jurisdictions.

Regarding the prospects for future research, it would be recommended to study whether geographical proximity affects the policy transfer considering the frequent referral to the U.S ETS by both political parties and interest groups. The majority of studies focus on the motivations of the states to engage in policy transfer while ignoring the possible influence the geographical location can have on a policy transfer. Iterated comparison of the OBPS with the ETS in the U.S states signals the need to investigate this gap. Further, it would be recommended to study the transfer of the EU ETS to Canadian provinces since almost all provinces which are not in the scope of the OBPS, have cap-and-trade systems in place. Therefore, it would be reasonable to study if the EU ETS affected the provincial level rather than the federal level. Lastly, future research can focus on the transfer of the EU ETS to other countries in order to reveal whether the liberal ideology is more receptive to the emission trading schemes regardless of the principles according to which they function. Such a study would strengthen the empirical results of the given research. Moreover, researching the transfer of the EU ETS to other countries may reveal other factors influencing the policy transfer process.

References

- Alexander, J. (2015). The Major Ideologies of Liberalism, Socialism and Conservatism. *Political Studies*, *63*, 980-994. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/1467-9248.12136
- Bakx, K. (2019, April 2). *Shell urges Canada's oil lobby group to support carbon tax*. CBC. Retrieved June 2, 2022, from https://www.cbc.ca/news/business/shell-capp-climate-1.5081036
- Bergen, C. (2018, June). *Debates (Hansard) No. 308 June 5, 2018 (42-1)*. House of Commons. Retrieved May 26, 2022, from https://www.ourcommons.ca/DocumentViewer/en/42-1/house/sitting-308/hansard
- Beyers, J. (2004). Voice and Access: Political Practices of European Interest Associations. *European Union Politics*, 5(2), 211-240. https://journals-sagepub-com.eur.idm.oclc.org/doi/pdf/10.1177/1465116504042442
- Binderkrantz, A. (2008). Different Groups, Different Strategies: How Interest Groups Pursue Their Political Ambitions. *Scandinavian Political Studies*, *31*(2), 173-200. https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.eur.idm.oclc.org/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1467-9477.2008.0020 1.x
- Blaikie, D. (2018, June 5). *Budget Implementation Act, 2018, No. 1*. ParlVU. Retrieved May 26, 2022, from https://parlvu.parl.gc.ca/Harmony/en/PowerBrowser/PowerBrowserV2/20180605/-1/294 63?Embedded=true&globalstreamId=20&startposition=24481&viewMode=3
- Blatter, J., Portmann, L., & Rausis, F. (2021). Theorizing policy diffusion: from a patchy set of mechanisms to a paradigmatic typology. *Journal of European Public Policy*.
- Bloc Québécois. (2021). *Platforme Politique Bloc 2021*. Bloc Québécois. Retrieved June 12, 2022, from https://www.blocquebecois.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/blocqc-Plateforme-2021-pla nche.pdf
- Boyd, B. (2017, May). Working Together on Climate Change: Policy Transfer and Convergence in Four Canadian Provinces. *The Journal of Federalism*, 47(4), 546-571.

- https://watermark.silverchair.com/pjx033.pdf?token=AQECAHi208BE49Ooan9kkhW_E rcy7Dm3ZL_9Cf3qfKAc485ysgAAAuEwggLdBgkqhkiG9w0BBwagggLOMIICygIBA DCCAsMGCSqGSIb3DQEHATAeBglghkgBZQMEAS4wEQQMQz6WiAQzLMeJhUO SAgEQgIIClFyIzgZiqU4T1CALCBXaRwpVdbUfWGOke6XfTB2qUOPYUbeO8
- BP Canada. (2020, April 24). *Crisis Response Actions required regarding Federal Policy and Regulations. As we.* BP. Retrieved June 1, 2022, from https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/business-sites/en/global/corporate/pdfs/sustainability/letter-to-canadian-association-of-petroleum-producers.pdf
- Bryman, A. (2012). Social Research Methods (4th ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Buckley, N. J., Muller, A. R., & Mestelman, S. (2004). Cap-and-Trade versus Baseline-and-Credit Emission Trading Plans: Experimental Evidence Under Variable Output Capacity. *RePEc*.
- Budge, I. (1994). A New Spatial Theory of Party Competition: Uncertainty, Ideology and Policy Equilibria. *British Journal of Political Science*, 24(4), 443-467. https://www-cambridge-org.eur.idm.oclc.org/core/journals/british-journal-of-political-sci ence/article/new-spatial-theory-of-party-competition-uncertainty-ideology-and-policy-eq uilibria-viewed-comparatively-and-temporally/85720AA3AF1595792CE6BD95E79C38 E9
- Bulowski, N. (2021, August 18). *Election 2021: Your last-minute guide to where the parties stand on climate action*. National Observer. Retrieved May 28, 2022, from https://www.nationalobserver.com/2021/08/18/explainer/election-2021-main-federal-parties-plan-fight-climate-crisis
- CAN. (n.d.). *About CAN-Rac Climate Action Network*. Climate Action Network Canada. Retrieved May 30, 2022, from https://climateactionnetwork.ca/about-can-rac/
- CAN. (2021, June 28). *A PEOPLE'S PLAN*. Climate Action Network Canada. Retrieved June 1, 2022, from https://climateactionnetwork.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/A-Peoples-Plan-Benchmark s-for-Evaluating-Canadas-International-Climate-Commitments-Ahead-of-2021-Summit.p df

- Canadian Abilities Foundation. (2021). *Public Interest Groups Abilities Canada*. Abilities Magazine. Retrieved May 29, 2022, from https://www.abilities.ca/social-policy/public-interest-groups/
- CAPP. (n.d.). *Membership CAPP | A Unified Voice for Canada's Upstream Oil and Gas Industry*. Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers. Retrieved May 31, 2022, from https://www.capp.ca/about/membership/
- CAPP. (2018). 2018 Economic Report Series. Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers.

 Retrieved May 31, 2022, from https://www.capp.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/CAPP-cap-economic-report-2018-1.pd f
- CAPP. (2022). *Canada's Upstream Oil & Natural Gas Industry*. CAPP | A Unified Voice for Canada's Upstream Oil and Gas Industry. Retrieved May 31, 2022, from https://www.capp.ca
- CAPP. (2022a). *Oil and Natural Gas Pipelines*. Canada Pipeline Maps & Facts | Trans Mountain Pipeline, Keystone XL, Enbridge Line 3. Retrieved May 31, 2022, from https://www.capp.ca/explore/oil-and-natural-gas-pipelines/
- CBC. (2019). *Carbon Tax*. CBC News. Retrieved May 28, 2022, from https://newsinteractives.cbc.ca/elections/federal/2019/party-platforms/embed/6/
- Chang, C.-P., Lee, C.-C., & Berdiev, A. N. (2015). The impact of government ideology on energy efficiency: evidence from panel data. *Energy Efficiency*, 8, 1181-1199. https://link-springer-com.eur.idm.oclc.org/content/pdf/10.1007/s12053-015-9347-1.pdf
- Chestney, N., Abnett, K., & Twidale, S. (2022, February 6). *Europe's carbon price nears the 100 euro milestone*. Reuters. Retrieved June 20, 2022, from https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/europes-carbon-price-nears-100-euro-milestone -2022-02-04/
- Christian, W., & Jansen, H. (2020). *Canadian Party System*. The Canadian Encyclopedia. Retrieved May 22, 2022, from https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/party-system#FederalPoliticalParties
- Clean Energy Canada. (2021, September 7). *Media brief: How do the federal parties stack up on climate?* Clean Energy Canada. Retrieved June 12, 2022, from

- https://cleanenergycanada.org/media-brief-how-do-the-federal-parties-stack-up-on-climate/
- Clean Prosperity. (2021, August 12). NDP Climate Platform Has Effective Policies Though Leaves Some Questions Unanswered. Clean Prosperity. Retrieved June 12, 2022, from https://cleanprosperity.ca/ndp-climate-platform-has-effective-policies-though-leaves-som e-questions-unanswered/
- Connolly, A. (2019, July 17). *Here's where the federal parties stand on the carbon tax National*| *Globalnews.ca*. Global News. Retrieved June 12, 2022, from https://globalnews.ca/news/5437635/federal-election-climate-change-platforms/
- Conservative Party of Canada. (2021, April). Secure the Environment. The Conservative Plan to Combat Climate Change. Conservative Party of Canada. Retrieved May 27, 2022, from https://cpcassets.conservative.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/15104504/24068610becf25 61.pdf
- CUTRIC. (2019). FEDERAL PARTY PLATFORMS IN FOCUS Cutric. Canadian Urban Transit

 Research & Innovation Consortium. Retrieved June 12, 2022, from https://cutric-crituc.org/news/federal-party-platforms-in-focus/
- Demerse, C. (2011, April 13). *Carbon pricing: comparing federal party platforms* | *Blog Posts*.

 Pembina Institute. Retrieved June 12, 2022, from https://www.pembina.org/blog/carbon-pricing-comparing-federal-party-platforms
- Dolowitz, D., & Marsh, D. (1996). Who Learns What from Whom: a Review of the Policy Transfer Literature. *Political Studies*, 44, 343-357. https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.eur.idm.oclc.org/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1467-9248.1996.tb003 34.x
- Dolowitz, D., & Marsh, D. (2000). Learning from Abroad: The Role of Policy Transfer in Contemporary Policy-Making. *International Journal of Policy and Administration*, 13(1), 5-24.
- Dunlop, C. A., & Radaelli, C. M. (2013). Systematizing Policy Learning: From Monolith to Dimensions. *Political Studies*, *61*, 599-619.

- Dür, A. (2008). Measuring Interest Group Influence in the EU. *European Union Politics*, 9(4), 559-576.
- ECPR. (2018). Interest Groups And Agenda Setting: How Do Groups Decide on Priorities And Do They Shape or Follow the Government Agenda? European Consortium for Political Research. Retrieved April 26, 2022, from https://ecpr.eu/Events/Event/PanelDetails/8024
- Elections Canada. (2021, September 20). *National Elections Results*. National Results Election Result Help | Elections Canada. Retrieved May 23, 2022, from https://www.elections.ca/enr/help/national_e.htm
- Elections Canada. (2022). Registered Political Parties and Parties Eligible for Registration.

 Registered Political Parties and Parties Eligible for Registration Elections Canada.

 Retrieved May 22, 2022, from https://www.elections.ca/content.aspx?section=pol&dir=par&document=index&lang=e
- Electricity Canada. (n.d.). *List of Members*. Electricity Canada. Retrieved May 31, 2022, from https://www.electricity.ca/membership/list-of-members/
- Electricity Canada. (2018a). STATE OF THE CANADIAN ELECTRICITY INDUSTRY. Electricity Canada. Retrieved June 2, 2022, from https://www.electricity.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/SOTI_Report_2020_WEB_EN.pd f
- Electricity Canada. (2018, October 23). *The Canadian Electricity Association responds to the Government of* ... Electricity Canada. Retrieved June 2, 2022, from https://www.electricity.ca/news/the-canadian-electricity-association-responds-to-the-government-of-canadas-carbon-pricing-system
- Electricity Canada. (2019, July 2). *The Canadian Electricity Association responds to the Government of Canada's Output Based Pricing System*. Electricity Canada. Retrieved June 2, 2022, from https://www.electricity.ca/news/the-canadian-electricity-association-responds-to-the-gove rnment-of-canadas-output-based-pricing-system/
- Electricity Canada. (2021). *Our Vision and Mission*. Electricity Canada. Retrieved May 31, 2022, from https://www.electricity.ca/about/our-purpose/
- Electricity Canada. (2021a). *Success Stories*. Electricity Canada. Retrieved June 4, 2022, from https://www.electricity.ca/advocacy/success-stories/

- Electricity Canada. (2022). *State of Canadian Electricity Industry*. Electricity Canada. Retrieved June 4, 2022, from https://issuu.com/canadianelectricityassociation/docs/soti_2022_highrez?fr=sOGY4NTE 1ODE1MTU
- Elkins, Z., & Simmons, B. (2005). On Waves, Clusters, and Diffusion: A Conceptual Framework. *ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social*, 33-51.
- Environmental Defense. (n.d.). *Defending clean water, a safe climate, and healthy communities*.

 Environmental Defence: Home. Retrieved May 30, 2022, from https://environmentaldefence.ca
- Environmental Defense. (2018). 2018 Annual Report. Environmental Defence. Retrieved May 30, 2022, from https://environmentaldefence.ca/2018-annual-report/
- Environmental Defense. (2020, April 16). *Covid-19 Crisis Response*. Environmental Defence. Retrieved June 1, 2022, from https://environmentaldefence.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/COVID-19-Regulatory-Request.pdf
- Environmental Defense. (2022a, March 31). *New report: As climate crisis worsens, federal government continues to give billions in subsidies and financing for fossil fuels.*Environmental Defence. Retrieved June 1, 2022, from https://environmentaldefence.ca/2022/03/31/new-report-as-climate-crisis-worsens-federal -government-continues-to-give-billions-in-subsidies-and-financing-for-fossil-fuels/
- Environmental Defense & Conservation Council of New Brunswick. (2021, March 26). *Review of Federal Offset-based Carbon Pricing System*. Environmental Defense. Retrieved May 30, 2022, from https://environmentaldefence.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/WilkinsonOBPSOffsetsSub missionsMarch2021Final.pdf
- Environment and Climate Change Canada. (2019). *Third-Party Verification Under The Output-Based Pricing System Regulations*. Canada.ca. Retrieved May 21, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/eccc/documents/pdf/obps/Document-D-EN.pdf
- Environment and Climate Change Canada. (2021a). *Pan-Canadian Framework on Clean Growth and Climate Change*. Government of Canada Publications. Retrieved May, 2022, from https://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2022/eccc/En1-77-2020-eng.pdf

- Environment and Climate Change Canada. (2021, June 30). *Pan-Canadian Approach to Pricing Carbon Pollution*. Government of Canada Publications. Retrieved May 18, 2022, from https://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2021/eccc/En4-423-1-2021-eng.pdf
- European Commission. (n.d.). *EU Emissions Trading System (EU ETS)*. European Commission. Retrieved May 13, 2022, from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/eu-action/eu-emissions-trading-system-eu-ets en
- European Commission. (2015). *EU ETS Handbook*. Retrieved May, 2022, from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/system/files/2017-03/ets handbook en.pdf
- European Commission. (2016). *The EU Emissions Trading System (EU ETS)*. European Commission. Retrieved April 23, 2022, from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/system/files/2016-12/factsheet_ets_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2020). *Development of EU ETS (2005-2020)*. Ec.europa.eu. Retrieved May, 2022, from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/eu-action/eu-emissions-trading-system-eu-ets/development-eu-ets-2005-2020 en
- European Commission. (2021a). *Increasing the ambition of EU emissions trading*. European Commission. Retrieved May, 2022, from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/eu-action/european-green-deal/delivering-european-green-deal/increasing-ambition-eu-emissions-trading_en
- European Commission. (2021). *Reducing emissions from aviation*. European Commission. Retrieved June, 2022, from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/eu-action/transport-emissions/reducing-emissions-aviation_en
- European Commission. (2021b). *Union Registry*. European Commission. Retrieved May 14, 2022, from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/eu-action/eu-emissions-trading-system-eu-ets/union-registry_e
- European Commission. (2021c, July 14). *Questions and Answers Emissions Trading Putting a Price on carbon*. European Commission. Retrieved June 14, 2022, from https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/qanda 21 3542
- European Commission. (2022). *International carbon market*. European Commission. Retrieved April 23, 2022, from

- https://ec.europa.eu/clima/eu-action/eu-emissions-trading-system-eu-ets/international-car bon-market en
- European Commission. (2022a). *Monitoring, reporting and verification of EU ETS emissions*. European Commission. Retrieved May 14, 2022, from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/eu-action/eu-emissions-trading-system-eu-ets/monitoring-repor ting-and-verification-eu-ets-emissions_en
- European Commission. (n.d.-a). Free allocation for the modernisation of the energy sector.

 European Commission. Retrieved June 14, 2022, from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/eu-action/eu-emissions-trading-system-eu-ets/free-allocation/fr ee-allocation-modernisation-energy-sector en
- European Commission. (n.d.-b). What the European Commission does in strategy and policy | European Commission. European Commission. Retrieved June 10, 2022, from https://ec.europa.eu/info/about-european-commission/what-european-commission-does/st rategy-and-policy en
- European Council. (2022, March 15). *Council agrees on the Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM)*. Consilium.europa.eu. Retrieved June 14, 2022, from https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2022/03/15/carbon-border-adjus tment-mechanism-cbam-council-agrees-its-negotiating-mandate/
- European Parliament. (n.d.). *How are members of the European Parliament elected?* | *News*.

 European Parliament. Retrieved June 10, 2022, from https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/faq/0/how-are-members-of-the-european-parlia ment-elected
- European Parliament. (1999). 1999 Outgoing Parliament | 2019 European election results | European Parliament. European Parliament. Retrieved June 7, 2022, from https://www.europarl.europa.eu/election-results-2019/en/european-results/1999-2004/out going-parliament/
- European Parliament. (2019, July 2). *Home* | *2019 European election results* | *European Parliament*. European Parliament. Retrieved June 11, 2022, from https://www.europarl.europa.eu/election-results-2019/en

- European Union. (2009). *History of the European Union 2000-09*. European Union. Retrieved June 30, 2022, from https://european-union.europa.eu/principles-countries-history/history-eu/2000-09 en
- European Union Law. (2003, October 13). DIRECTIVE 2003/87/EC OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL of 13 October 2003 establishing a scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the Community and amending Council Directive 96/61/EC. EUR-Lex. Retrieved May, 2022, from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A32003L0087
- Evans, M. (2009, July). Policy transfer in critical perspective. *Policy Studies*, 30(3), 243-268.
- Farand, C. (2019, October 18). *Canada's climate change election cheat sheet*. Climate Home News. Retrieved June 12, 2022, from https://www.climatechangenews.com/2019/10/18/canadas-climate-election-cheat-sheet/
- Financial Post. (2013, May 29). Harper government nixed reviews for some oil sands projects following warnings of water disruption. Financial Post. Retrieved May 23, 2022, from https://financialpost.com/commodities/energy/harper-government-nixed-reviews-for-oil-s ands-projects-following-warnings-of-water-disruption
- Forrest, M. (2018, May 21). Federal carbon tax could 'degrade' Canadian fishing industry's competitiveness, says memo. National Post. Retrieved June 1, 2022, from https://nationalpost.com/news/politics/federal-carbon-tax-could-degrade-canadian-fishing -industrys-competitiveness-says-memo
- Garrett, G., Dobbin, F., & Simmons, A. B. (2006, October). Introduction: The International Diffusion of Liberalism. *International Organization*, 60(4), 781-810.
- Gerring, J. (1997, December). Ideology: A Definitional Analysis. *Political Research Quarterly*, 50(4), 957-994. https://www.jstor.org/stable/448995?seq=5
- Glachant, M. (2020, June 9). *Innovation in climate change adaptation: Does it reach those who need it most?* From World Bank: https://blogs.worldbank.org/climatechange/innovation-climate-change-adaptation-does-it-reach-those-who-need-it-most

- Government of Canada. (2007). *Regulatory Framework Air Emissions*. Environment and Climate Change Canada. Retrieved April 24, 2022, from https://www.ec.gc.ca/doc/media/m 124/report eng.pdf
- Government of Canada. (2013, April 19). *1. Introduction*. Canada.ca. Retrieved April 24, 2022, from
 - https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/canadian-environmental-protection-act-registry/historical/annual-reports/canadian-environmental-protection-act-c ombined-annual-reports-2006-2008/introduction.html#s1 2
- Government of Canada. (2016, January 12). *Paris Agreement*. Canada.ca. Retrieved May 23, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/paris-agreement.html
- Government of Canada. (2017, January 25). *Introduction*. Canada.ca. Retrieved April 24, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/services/environment/weather/climatechange/pan-canadian-fra mework/introduction.html#1 2
- Government of Canada. (2018a, January 5). *Technical Paper: Federal Carbon Pricing Backstop*.

 Canada.ca. Retrieved April 25, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/services/environment/weather/climatechange/technical-paper-f ederal-carbon-pricing-backstop.html
- Government of Canada. (2018, January 31). *Carbon pricing: regulatory framework for the output-based pricing system*. Canada.ca. Retrieved May 28, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/services/environment/weather/climatechange/climate-action/pricing-carbon-pollution/output-based-pricing-system.html
- Government of Canada. (2021d, July 5). *Trans Mountain Expansion Project*. Canada.ca. Retrieved June 2, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/campaign/trans-mountain.html
- Government of Canada. (2021c, August 5). Exploring Border Carbon Adjustments for Canada.

 Canada.ca. Retrieved June 14, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/department-finance/programs/consultations/2021/border-carbon-adjustments/exploring-border-carbon-adjustments-canada.html

- Government of Canada. (2021b, August 5). *The federal carbon pollution pricing benchmark*. Canada.ca. Retrieved June 14, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/pricing-p ollution-how-it-will-work/carbon-pollution-pricing-federal-benchmark-information.html
- Government of Canada. (2021a, August 5). *Update to the Pan-Canadian Approach to Carbon Pollution Pricing 2023-2030*. Canada.ca. Retrieved June 12, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/pricing-p ollution-how-it-will-work/carbon-pollution-pricing-federal-benchmark-information/feder al-benchmark-2023-2030.html
- Government of Canada. (2021, December 13). *Review of the OBPS Regulations: Consultation paper*. Canada.ca. Retrieved June 25, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/pricing-p ollution-how-it-will-work/output-based-pricing-system/2022-review-consultation.html
- Government of Canada. (2022). *Output-Based Pricing System*. Canada.ca. Retrieved May, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/pricing-p ollution-how-it-will-work/output-based-pricing-system.html
- Government of Canada. (2022f, February 1). *Consultation on Border Carbon Adjustments*.

 Canada.ca. Retrieved June 14, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/department-finance/programs/consultations/2021/border-carbo n-adjustments.html
- Government of Canada. (2022b, March 22). *Carbon pollution pricing systems across Canada*.

 Canada.ca. Retrieved May 18, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/pricing-p ollution-how-it-will-work.html
- Government of Canada. (2022d, May 10). *Output-Based Pricing System Proceeds Fund*.

 Canada.ca. Retrieved June 12, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/carbon-p ollution-pricing-proceeds-programming/output-based-pricing-system-proceeds-fund.html
- Government of Canada. (2022a, May 12). Overview Output-Based Pricing System Regulations under the Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing Act. Canada.ca. Retrieved June 13, 2022,

- from
- https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/pricing-pollution-how-it-will-work/output-based-pricing-system/overview.html
- Government of Canada. (2022e, May 13). *Decarbonization Incentive Program: what you need to know.* Canada.ca. Retrieved May 21, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/carbon-p ollution-pricing-proceeds-programming/output-based-pricing-system-proceeds-fund/deca rbonization-incentive-program/what-you-need-to-know.html
- Government of Canada. (2022c, June 8). *Canada launches Greenhouse Gas Offset Credit System to support a clean, green economy*. Canada.ca. Retrieved June 12, 2022, from https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/news/2022/06/canada-launches-greenhouse-gas-offset-credit-system-to-support-a-clean-green-economy.html
- Government of Ontario. (2022). *Archived Ontario Emissions Trading Code*. Ontario.ca. Retrieved April 24, 2022, from https://www.ontario.ca/page/ontario-emissions-trading-code
- Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing, SC 2018, C. 12, s. 186. (2018). *Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing*. Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing Act. Retrieved May 21, 2022, from https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/G-11.55/page-9.html#h-245223
- Green Party. (2021). *Green Future Life with Dignity Just Society*. Green Party of Canada |.

 Retrieved May 28, 2022, from https://www.greenparty.ca/sites/default/files/gpc_platform_en_v-02.pdf
- The Guardian. (2011, December 12). *Canada pulls out of Kyoto protocol* | *Kyoto protocol*. The Guardian. Retrieved May 23, 2022, from https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2011/dec/13/canada-pulls-out-kyoto-protocol
- Haverland, M., & Blatter, J. (2012). *Designing Case Studies: Explanatory Approach in Small-N Research* (1st ed.). PALGRAVE MACMILLAN.
- Heywood, A. (2017). *Political Ideologies: An Introduction* (sixth ed.). PALGRAVE. https://books.google.nl/books?id=Sy8hDgAAQBAJ&printsec=frontcover#v=onepage&q &f=false
- Hislop, M. (2018, June 19). A deep dive into CAPP's climate policy study: too risky, out of sync with govts, not supported by the evidence Thoughtful Journalism About Energy's

- *Future*. Energi Media. Retrieved June 5, 2022, from https://energi.media/deep-dives/a-deep-dive-into-capps-climate-policy-study-too-risky-ou t-of-sync-with-govts-not-supported-by-the-evidence/
- Hix, S., & Høyland, B. (2011). *The Political System of the European Union* (3rd ed.). Palgrave Macmillan.
- House of Commons. (2015). *Members of the 42nd Parliament*. Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia. Retrieved May 27, 2022, from https://www.ourcommons.ca/Members/en/search?parliament=42&view=tile
- House of Commons. (2021). *Find Members of Parliament Members of Parliament*. House of Commons. Retrieved May 27, 2022, from https://www.ourcommons.ca/Members/en
- House of Commons Canada. (n.d.). *The Canadian Parliamentary System Our Procedure ProceduralInfo*. House of Commons. Retrieved May 22, 2022, from https://www.ourcommons.ca/procedure/our-procedure/ParliamentaryFramework/c_g_parliamentaryframework-e.html
- Hummel, M. (2022, January 26). *Environmental Movement in Canada*. The Canadian Encyclopedia. Retrieved May 29, 2022, from https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/environmental-and-conservation-mov ements
- IEA. (2017, November 5). Turning the Corner: An Action Plan to Reduce Greenhouse Gases and Air Pollution Policies IEA. International Energy Agency. Retrieved April 24, 2022, from https://www.iea.org/policies/33-turning-the-corner-an-action-plan-to-reduce-greenhouse-gases-and-air-pollution
- IEA. (2020, July). *Implementing Effective Emissions Trading Systems Analysis*. IEA. Retrieved June 24, 2022, from https://www.iea.org/reports/implementing-effective-emissions-trading-systems
- IETA. (2021, May). CARBON MARKET BUSINESS BRIEF. CARBON MARKET BUSINESS BRIEF. Retrieved May, 2022, from https://www.ieta.org/resources/Resources/CarbonMarketBusinessBrief/2021/CarbonMark etBusinessBrief_CanadaOBPS2021.pdf

- IPCC. (2022, April 4). The evidence is clear: the time for action is now. We can halve emissions by 2030. IPCC. IPCC. Retrieved June 24, 2022, from https://www.ipcc.ch/2022/04/04/ipcc-ar6-wgiii-pressrelease/
- Jordan, G., Halpin, D., & Maloney, W. (2004). Defining Interests: Disambiguation and the Need for New Distinctions? *The British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, 6, 195-212. https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.eur.idm.oclc.org/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1467-856X.2004.0013 4.x
- Klüver, H., & Saurugger, S. (2013). Opening the black box: The professionalization of interest groups in the European Union. *Interest Groups & Advocacy*, *2*(2), 185-205. https://link-springer-com.eur.idm.oclc.org/content/pdf/10.1057/iga.2013.2.pdf
- Lansford, T. (2019). *Political Handbook of the World 2018-2019* (Vol. 1). SAGE Publications. https://books.google.nl/books?id=oSJoDwAAQBAJ&pg=PA263&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false
- Lehnert, M., Miller, B., & Wonka, A. (2007). Increasing the Relevance of Research Questions: Considerations on Theoretical and Social Relevance in Political Science. In *Research Design in Political Science* (pp. 21-38). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Lelieveldt, H., & Princen, S. (2015). *The Politics of the European Union* (2nd ed.). Cambridge University Press.
- Liberal Party of Canada. (n.d.). *A Price On Pollution*. Liberal Party of Canada. Retrieved June 14, 2022, from https://liberal.ca/our-platform/a-price-on-pollution/
- Liberal Party of Canada. (2019). Support the Liberal plan for pricing carbon pollution. Liberal Party of Canada. Retrieved May 26, 2022, from https://liberal.ca/pricing-carbon-pollution/
- Liberal Party of Canada. (2021). *Forward. For Everyone*. Liberal Party of Canada. Retrieved May 29, 2022, from https://liberal.ca/wp-content/uploads/sites/292/2021/09/Platform-Forward-For-Everyone. pdf
- Lightbound, J. (2018, April). *Debates (Hansard) No. 279 April 16, 2018 (42-1)*. House of Commons. Retrieved May 26, 2022, from https://www.ourcommons.ca/DocumentViewer/en/42-1/house/sitting-279/hansard

- Linnitt, C., Simmons, M., McIntosh, E., Syed, F., & Ligeti, A. (2017, March 3). *CAPP Lobbies Government to 'Recycle' Carbon Tax Revenues Back to Oil Industry*. The Narwhal. Retrieved June 2, 2022, from https://thenarwhal.ca/capp-lobbies-government-recycle-carbon-tax-revenues-back-oil-ind ustry/
- Lowery, D. (2007, January). Why Do Organized Interests Lobby? A Multi-Goal, Multi-Context Theory of Lobbying. *Polity*, *39*, 29-54. https://www.jstor.org/stable/4500263?seq=1
- Maggetti, M., & Trein, P. (2021). More is less: Partisan ideology, changes of government, and policy integration reforms in the UK. *Policy and Society*, 40(1), 79-98. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/14494035.2021.1908673?needAccess=true
- March, J. G., & Olsen, J. P. (1998, October). The Institutional Dynamics of International Political Orders. *International Organization*, *52*(4), 943-969. https://www-cambridge-org.eur.idm.oclc.org/core/services/aop-cambridge-core/content/view/4EB840D89B711C1376D82563BE59C881/S0020818398440505a.pdf/the-institutional-dynamics-of-international-political-orders.pdf
- Mason, L. R. (2015). *Environment and social development* (CSD Working Paper No. 15-33). St. Louis, MO: Washington University, Center for Social Development.
- May, E. (2018, June 5). *Debates (Hansard) No. 308 June 5, 2018 (42-1)*. House of Commons. Retrieved May 26, 2022, from https://www.ourcommons.ca/DocumentViewer/en/42-1/house/sitting-308/hansard
- Moyson, S., Scholten, P., & Weible, C. M. (2017, May). Policy learning and policy change: theorizing their relations from different perspectives. *Policy and Society, 36*(2), 161-77.
- Newbery, D. (2012). *CS_European Unions Emissions Trading System 01 02*. United Nations ESCAP. Retrieved May, 2022, from https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/18.%20CS-European%20Union%27s%20Emissions%20Trading%20System.pdf
- New Democratic Party. (2021). *Protecting our air, land, and water, securing our future*. Canada's NDP. Retrieved May 28, 2022, from https://www.ndp.ca/climate-action
- OECD. (2021, October 6). *The pan-Canadian framework for carbon pricing*. OECD. Retrieved April 24, 2022, from

- https://www.oecd.org/climate-action/ipac/practices/the-pan-canadian-framework-for-carb on-pricing-a2f5b6a1/
- OECD. (2022). *Emission trading systems*. OECD. Retrieved April 23, 2022, from https://www.oecd.org/env/tools-evaluation/emissiontradingsystems.htm
- Parliament of Canada. (2022). *Guide to the Canadian House of Commons*. Learn About Parliament. Retrieved May 22, 2022, from https://learn.parl.ca/sites/Learn/default/en_CA/Guide-to-the-Canadian-House-of-Commons
- Patterson, B. (2014). *Harper attacks charitable public interest organizations*. The Council of Canadians. Retrieved May 30, 2022, from https://canadians.org/analysis/harper-attacks-charitable-public-interest-organizations
- Pembina Institute. (n.d.). *About Pembina*. Pembina Institute. Retrieved June 4, 2022, from https://www.pembina.org/about/about-pembina
- Pembina Institute. (2008, February). *Pembina's carbon pricing principles:*. Pembina Institute.

 Retrieved June 3, 2022, from https://www.pembina.org/reports/carbon-pricing-Canada.pdf
- Pembina Institute. (2017, May). *Putting a price on carbon pollution across Canada*. Pembina Institute. Retrieved June 4, 2022, from https://www.pembina.org/reports/carbon-pollution-pricing-2017.pdf
- Pembina Institute. (2022). *Successes*. Pembina Institute. Retrieved June 4, 2022, from https://www.pembina.org/about/successes
- Pew Center on Global Climate Policy. (2005, March). *The European Union Emissions Trading Scheme (EU-ETS)*. *Insights and Opportunities*. https://www.c2es.org/wp-content/uploads/2005/03/eu-ets-insights-and-opportunities.pdf
- Prairie Climate Center. (2018, March 7). Where Do Canada's Greenhouse Gas Emissions Come From? Prairie Climate Center. Retrieved April 25, 2022, from https://prairieclimatecentre.ca/2018/03/where-do-canadas-greenhouse-gas-emissions-com e-from/
- Prime Minister of Canada. (2018, October 23). Government of Canada fighting climate change with price on pollution. Retrieved June 1, 2022, from

- https://pm.gc.ca/en/news/news-releases/2018/10/23/government-canada-fighting-climate-change-price-pollution
- Publications Office of the European Union. (2020, February 1). *The EU what it is and what it does*. Publications Office of the European Union. Retrieved June 10, 2022, from https://op.europa.eu/webpub/com/eu-what-it-is/en/
- Ricardo Energy & Environment. (2015). *Preparation for the implementation of the EU ETS provisions for small installations*. European Commission. Retrieved June 13, 2022, from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/system/files/2019-03/p4 best practice guidance en.pdf
- Riley, Tess. "Just 100 companies responsible for 71% of global emissions, study says." *The Guardian*, 10 July 2017, https://www.theguardian.com/sustainable-business/2017/jul/10/100-fossil-fuel-companies -investors-responsible-71-global-emissions-cdp-study-climate-change. Accessed June 2022.
- Safonov, G. (2019, December). *Social Consequences of Climate Change*. Retrieved December, 2021 from Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung: http://library.fes.de/pdf-files/id-moe/15863.pdf
- Scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the Community and amending Council Directive 96/61/EC; 2001/0245 (COD). (2003, March 18). *Statement of the Council's Reasons*. Retrieved June 14, 2022, from https://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-15792-2002-REV-1-ADD-1/en/pdf
- Scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the Community and amending Council Directive 96/61/EC; Document A5-0303/2002. (2002, October 10). *Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the Community and amending Council Directive*. EUR-Lex. Retrieved June 14, 2022, from https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/A-5-2002-0303 EN.html?redirect
- Schmitter, P. C., & Streek, W. (1999). The organization of business interests: Studying the associative action of business in advanced industrial societies. *MPI FG*.
- Schoenefeld, J. J. (2021). Interest Groups, NGOs or Civil Society Organisations? The Framing of Non-State Actors in the EU. *International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 32, 585-596. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11266-020-00283-w

- Schoenefeld, J. J., Schulze, K., & Bruch, N. (2022). The diffusion of climate change adaptation policy. *WIREs Climate Change*, 1-18. https://wires-onlinelibrary-wiley-com.eur.idm.oclc.org/doi/pdf/10.1002/wcc.775
- Senate of Canada. (n.d.). *About the Senate*. Senate of Canada. Retrieved June 14, 2022, from https://sencanada.ca/en/about/
- Simmons, B., Dobbin, F., & Garrett, G. (2007). The Global Diffusion of Public Policies: Social Construction, Coercion, Competition, or Learning? *Annual Review of Sociology*, 449-472.
- Skodvin, T., Gullberg, A. T., & Aakre, S. (2010). Target-group influence and political feasibility: the case of climate policy design in Europe. *Journal of European Public Policy*, *17*(6), 854-873.
 - https://www-tandfonline-com.eur.idm.oclc.org/doi/pdf/10.1080/13501763.2010.486991? needAccess=true
- Supreme Court of Canada. (2021, March 25). Supreme Court of Canada 38663-38781-39116.

 Retrieved May 27, 2022, from https://www.scc-csc.ca/case-dossier/cb/2021/38663-38781-39116-eng.aspx
- Sugiyama, N. B. (2008, February). Theories of Policy Diffusion Social Sector Reform in Brazil. *Comparative Political Studies, 4*(2), 193-2016.
- Tasker, J. P. (2019, June 19). *Andrew Scheer unveils climate plan promising 'green technology, not taxes'*. CBC. Retrieved May 27, 2022, from https://www.cbc.ca/news/politics/andrew-scheer-climate-plan-1.5181826
- The establishment of the scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowances trading, Directive 2003/87/EC. (2003, October). 32003L0087 EN EUR-Lex. EUR-Lex. Retrieved June 13, 2022, from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32003L0087
- The establishment of the scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowances trading, Regulation 421/2014. (2014, April 30). *Regulation 421/2014*. EU Law. Retrieved May, 2022, from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:02003L0087-20140430
- Torney, D. (2018, November 21). Follow the leader? Conceptualising the relationship between leaders and followers in polycentric climate governance. *Environmental Politics*, 28(1), 167-186.

- https://www-tandfonline-com.eur.idm.oclc.org/doi/pdf/10.1080/09644016.2019.1522029 ?needAccess=true
- Tsebelis, G. (2005). Assessing the Contributions of the DOSEI Project. *European Union Politics*, 6(3), 377-390.
- The verification of data and on the accreditation of verifiers pursuant to Directive 2003/87/EC, Regulation 2018/2067. (2021, January 1). 02018R2067-20210101 EN EUR-Lex. EUR-Lex. Retrieved May, 2022, from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A02018R2067-2021010
- Wasserfallen, F. (2019, May). Global diffusion, policy flexibility, and inflation targeting. *International Interactions*, 45(4), 617-637.
- Wasserfallen, F., & Geraldi, F. (2019). The politics of policy diffusion. *European Journal of Political Research*, 1241256.
- Whitehorn, A. (2019, October 24). *New Democratic Party (NDP)*. The Canadian Encyclopedia. Retrieved May 29, 2022, from https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/new-democratic-party
- Wijaya, A. S. (2014). Climate Change, Global Warming and Global Inequality in Developed and Developing Countries (Analytical Perspective, Issue, Problem and Solution). *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*.
- Wilkinson, J. (2018, May). *Debates (Hansard) No. 294 May 8, 2018 (42-1)*. House of Commons. Retrieved May 26, 2022, from https://www.ourcommons.ca/DocumentViewer/en/42-1/house/sitting-294/hansard
- Winter, J. (2021, September 16). *NDP climate plan long on ambition, short on substance (again)*. CBC. Retrieved June 12, 2022, from https://www.cbc.ca/news/opinion/opinion-election-ndp-climate-platform-1.6162926
- World Bank. (2018, May 31). *State and Trends of Carbon Pricing 2018*. Open Knowledge Repository. Retrieved April 25, 2022, from https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/29687/9781464812927.pd f?sequence=5&isAllowed=y

- World Bank. (2022). *Up-to-date overview of carbon pricing initiatives*. Carbon Pricing Dashboard. Retrieved April 24, 2022, from https://carbonpricingdashboard.worldbank.org/map_data
- Yin, R. K. (2009). Case Study Research. Design and Methods. SAGE Publications.
- Zimonjic, P. (2021, September 3). *Liberal climate plan likely least costly, most effective, says economist assessing main parties' proposals*. CBC. Retrieved June 1, 2022, from https://www.cbc.ca/news/politics/mark-jaccard-climate-policy-analysis-options-1.616329
- Zimonjic, P. (2022, March 22). *How the Liberal-NDP agreement will work and what it might mean for Canadians*. CBC. Retrieved May 29, 2022, from https://www.cbc.ca/news/politics/trudeau-singh-how-it-will-work-1.6393710